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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Comtec Solar Systems Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am
pleased to present the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017. Here are some

financial and business highlights for the year:

o Revenue for the year was approximately RMB489.2 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 39.6%
from approximately RMB810.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016;

. Gross profit for the year was approximately RMB8.0 million, representing a turnaround from gross loss of
approximately RMB152.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016;

. Gross profit margin for the year was approximately 1.6%, representing a turnaround from gross loss margin of
approximately 18.8% for the year ended 31 December 2016;

. Net loss for the year was approximately RMB145.4 million, decreased from the net loss of RMB1,007.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016;

U Net loss margin for the year was approximately 29.7%, comparing to 124.3% for the year ended 31 December
2016; and

. Our loss per share for the year was RMB8.15 cents, comparing to the loss per share of RMB69.48 cents for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group achieved remarkable progress in downsizing traditional solar

wafer manufacturing businesses and expanding to the more profitable downstream solar business which specifically
focuses on rooftop distributed generation projects on commercial and industrial buildings.
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Chairman’s Statement

DISPOSAL OF ASSETS IN MALAYSIA

On 30 December 2016, the Company, Comtec Solar International (M) Sdn. Bhd. (“Comtec Malaysia”) and Longi
(Kuching) Sdn. Bhd (“Longi”) entered into an asset transfer agreement, pursuant to which Comtec Malaysia agreed
to sell and Longi agreed to purchase the assets of Comtec Malaysia at a total consideration of RMB200.0 million.

Comtec Malaysia was established in 2013 by the Company to expand the Group’s production capacity in its solar-
grade monocrystalline silicon business. Due to the unfavorable global macro-economic environment, the relatively
small scale of operations, the lower production efficiency at the early stage of its operations and that it took time to
train the local production team, Comtec Malaysia had been loss making and had recorded cumulative operating
loss of approximately RMB178.5 million since 2013. Although the Group had been striving to improve its operating
efficiency and reduce its production cost per unit, Comtec Malaysia was not able to generate operating profit in
2016. At the same time, the industry landscape for the monocrystalline silicon business deteriorated in the second
half of 2016, with certain major players who use monocrystalline silicon wafers, such as those produced by Comtec
Malaysia, scaling back or even shutting down their production. In such circumstances, the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of the Company considered that it would be in the interest of the Company to exit its
investment in the production facilities in Malaysia so that the Group could provide more resources on expanding its
downstream distributed solar system business, as it was expected that the business prospects of the downstream
distributed solar system business would be better than that of the upstream ingot and wafer manufacturing
business. Also, given the unfavorable market conditions, the Board believes there is a risk that the prices of the
assets of Comtec Malaysia may fall even lower later. Such disposal was completed in June 2017. For further details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3 January 2017, 21 March 2017 and 20 April 2017 and
the circular of the Company dated 31 March 2017.

END OF LONG-TERM PURCHASE AGREEMENTS

During the year, we were also free from the contractual obligations in relation to the long term purchase agreements
for polysilicons which led to our substantial amount of losses in last few years. It allowed the Group to be more
flexible in managing its supply chain to adapt to the market situations. And we intend to improve our flexibilities and
cost competitiveness on solar wafer manufacturing business by outsourcing certain production procedures to
external processing agents. The Group would mainly focus on the production procedures which are important to the
long-term competitiveness of our monocrystalline wafer business.

On the other hand, we have made good progress on the new businesses initiatives.
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Chairman’s Statement

STRATEGIC COOPERATION WITH MACQUARIE CAPITAL

On 18 September 2017, Comtec Renewable Energy Group Limited (“Comtec Renewable Energy”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Macquarie Corporate Holding Pty Limited (“Macquarie Capital”) entered into a
shareholders’ agreement, pursuant to which Comtec Renewable Energy and Macquarie Capital agreed to form a
co-investment vehicle (the “Co-Investment Vehicle”) for the purpose of developing and expanding the downstream
solar business. The Co-Investment Vehicle will be owned as to 50% by Comtec Renewable Energy and 50% by
Macquarie Capital, respectively, and the total subscription amount to be paid by each party for the transaction will
be up to a maximum of US$5 million.

The Co-Investment Vehicle will focus on the development, project management and construction of distributed solar
generated power projects in the PRC with an aggregate capacity of 30-40 Megawatts. The cooperation with
Macquarie Capital will broaden the Group’s strategic cooperation with international financial institutions, which
strengthens and improves the financial resources of the Group.

COOPERATION WITH ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE OF WUXI HUISHAN ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT ZONE

In addition to the incorporation of the remarkable Co-Investment Vehicle with Macquarie Capital, we also made
continuous progress on our new business initiatives. On 12 January 2017, the Group entered into a strategic
framework cooperation agreement with the Administrative Committee of Wuxi Huishan Economic Development Zone
in relation to the proposed cooperation in the distributed solar power generation projects and the intelligent energy
charging facilities projects. Pursuant to the agreement, both parties agreed to cooperate exclusively with each other
in connection with solar projects in Huishan Economic Development Zone.

ACQUISITION OF FORUM (ASIA) LIMITED
In March 2017, the Group has completed the acquisition of Forum (Asia) Limited to further expand the business of
rooftop solar projects.

COOPERATION WITH FUZHOU SWIRE COCA COLA

On 8 May 2017, the Company successfully completed the construction of a solar power rooftop distributed
generation station in Fuzhou (the “Solar Power Generation Station”). Pursuant to an electricity supply agreement (the
“Electricity Supply Agreement”) entered into by, amongst others, Fuzhou Comtec Solar Electricity Co., Ltd.* (f&/1-<
W ARG E N ERELAR) (“Fuzhou Comtec”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Fuzhou Swire
Coca Cola Beverage Co., Ltd.* (/N A& A B AIEEREIE R A a]) (“Fuzhou Swire Coca Cola”), the Solar Power
Generation Station was constructed by Fuzhou Comtec to supply Fuzhou Swire Coca Cola with solar power
electricity for a term of 25 years. The Solar Power Generation Station was constructed on a rooftop covering an area
of approximately 30,000 square meters and its scale is approximately 2 Megawatts.
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Chairman’s Statement

COOPERATION WITH ISDN HOLDINGS

On 25 May 2017, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement (the “Framework
Agreement”) with ISDN Holdings Limited (“ISDN Holdings”), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 1656) and the Stock Exchange of Singapore
(stock code: 107.S1), in relation to the proposed strategic cooperation in the energy industry. After arm’s length
negotiation, the parties incorporated an investment holding company in the British Virgin Islands (the “JV Holdco”) in
August 2017. The JV Holdco is named C&I Renewable Limited and owned as to 70% by our Company and 30% by
ISDN Holdings. The board of directors of the JV Holdco comprises three members, namely Mr. Zhang Zhen and Mr.
Chau Kwok Keung, each being an executive Director of our Company, and Mr. Teo Cher Koon, being the managing
director and president of ISDN Holdings. After incorporation of the JV Holdco, it will further establish subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and the PRC. It is expected that the PRC subsidiary will set up and operate a distributed generation
solar power station with an estimated scale of approximately 1 Megawatt on the roof of a property owned by ISDN
Holdings located in Suzhou, the PRC. It is also expected that, upon commencement of operation of the distributed
generation solar power station, ISDN Holdings and/or its subsidiary(ies) will purchase generated power from such
power station at the relevant fair market price for a term of 20 years. The total investment amount to the JV Holdco
and its subsidiaries would be no more than RMB8 million. Upon the incorporation, each of the JV Holdco and its
subsidiaries will be accounted as a subsidiary of the Group and their financials will be consolidated to those of the

Group accordingly.

ACQUISITION OF KEXIN

On 25 May 2017, Comtec Renewable Energy (Jiangsu) Limited* (F#8F 58 24ER(1E)BR A7) (“Comtec
Renewable (Jiangsu)”), Zhenjiang Kexin Power System Design and Research Company Limited* (S8 I FMZ8) ) K&
AR AR AT (“Kexin®) and the vendors of Kexin entered into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which
Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) agreed to acquire 70% equity interest of Kexin from the vendors at a cash
consideration of RMB14 million. Kexin is principally engaged in the research and development, design, integration
and sales of lithium battery management systems and lithium battery systems for electric vehicles (including electric
cars, electric motors and electric bicycles) to electric vehicle manufacturers and for power storage systems to
lithium battery manufacturers and to power storage companies. The acquisition represented an attractive
opportunity for the Group to expand into the business of the research and development, design, integration and
sales of lithium battery management systems and lithium battery systems for electric vehicles (including electric
cars, electric motors and electric bicycles) to electric vehicle manufacturers and for power storage systems to
lithium battery manufacturers and to power storage companies, which marked the Group’s continuous efforts in

diversifying its business.
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Chairman’s Statement

The consideration payable by Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) for the acquisition was RMB14 million, which was
determined after arm’s length negotiation between the parties by reference to, among others, (i) the potential
prospects of Kexin and its expected synergy with the Company, and (ii) the valuation of Kexin as at 12 May 2017.
The acquisition was completed in October 2017. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 25 May
2017 and 16 October 2017 for further details.

The above progresses marked the Group’s continuous efforts to develop and expand its new business initiatives. It
would also enhance our profit amounts and profitabilities.

SHARE PLACING

On 13 July 2017, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Rich Reach Holdings Limited (& Z#E%
BBR AT, an independent third party, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
118,389,897 subscription shares at a subscription price of HK$0.2534 per share. The subscription has been
completed on 20 July 2017 with the 118,389,897 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Rich Reach Holdings
Limited (EZ1ERRER A F]), generating the net proceeds of approximately HK$29.2 million, representing a net
subscription price of HK$0.247 per subscription share. The net proceed was expected to be used as general
working capital of the Group. As at the date of this report, the net proceed has been used up. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 13 July 2017 and 20 July 2017 for further details.

On 21 July 2017, the Company entered into another subscription agreement with Advanced Gain Limited, an
independent third party, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 190,912,714
subscription shares at a subscription price of HK$0.25 per share. The subscription has been completed on 18
October 2017 with the 190,912,714 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Advanced Gain Limited, generating
the net proceeds of approximately HK$46.93 million, representing a net subscription price of HK$0.2458 per
subscription share. The net proceed was expected to be used as general working capital of the Group. As at the
date of this report, the net proceed has been used up. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 21
July 2017 and 18 October 2017 for further details.

The Group intends to explore further opportunities and make further expansion into downstream solar business. We
believe this strategy would fuel the growth of the Group. On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our Shareholders and business partners for their support and trust in us, and also to our management
and employees for their hard work. We look forward to creating greater value and return for our Shareholders.

John Yi Zhang

Chairman

Shanghai, 29 March 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group achieved remarkable progress in downsizing the traditional
solar wafer manufacturing businesses and expanding to the more profitable downstream solar business which
specifically focuses on rooftop distributed generation projects on commercial and industrial buildings.

Disposal of assets in Malaysia
On 30 December 2016, the Company, Comtec Malaysia and Longi entered into an asset transfer agreement,
pursuant to which Comtec Malaysia agreed to sell and Longi agreed to purchase the assets of Comtec Malaysia at

a total consideration of RMB200.0 million.

Comtec Malaysia was established in 2013 by the Company to expand the Group’s production capacity in its solar-
grade monocrystalline silicon business. Due to the unfavorable global macro-economic environment, the relatively
small scale of operations, the lower production efficiency at the early stage of its operations and that it took time to
train the local production team, Comtec Malaysia had been loss making and had recorded cumulative operating
loss of approximately RMB178.5 million since 2013. Although the Group had been striving to improve its operating
efficiency and reduce its production cost per unit, Comtec Malaysia was not able to generate operating profit in
2016. At the same time, the industry landscape for the monocrystalline silicon business deteriorated in the second
half of 2016, with certain major players who use monocrystalline silicon wafers, such as those produced by Comtec
Malaysia, scaling back or even shutting down their production. In such circumstances, the Board considered that it
would be in the interest of the Company to exit its investment in the production facilities in Malaysia so that the
Group could provide more resources on expanding its downstream distributed solar system business, as it is
expected that the business prospects of the downstream distributed solar system business would be better than
that of the upstream ingot and wafer manufacturing business. Also, given the unfavorable market conditions, the
Board believes there is a risk that the prices of the assets of Comtec Malaysia may fall even lower later. Such

disposal was completed in June 2017.

End of long-term purchase agreements

During the year, we were also free from the contractual obligations in relation to the long term purchase agreements
for polysilicons which led to our substantial amount of losses in last few years. It allowed the Group to be more
flexible in managing its supply chain to adapt to the market situations. And we intend to improve our flexibilities and
cost competitiveness on solar wafer manufacturing business by outsourcing certain production procedures to
external processing agents. The Group would mainly focus on the production procedures which are important to the

long-term competitiveness of our monocrystalline wafer businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Strategic Cooperation with Macquarie Capital

On 18 September 2017, Comtec Renewable Energy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Macquarie
Capital entered into a shareholders’ agreement, pursuant to which Comtec Renewable Energy and Macquarie
Capital agreed to form the Co-Investment Vehicle for the purpose of developing and expanding the downstream
solar business. The Co-Investment Vehicle will be owned as to 50% by Comtec Renewable Energy and 50% by
Macquarie Capital, respectively, and the total subscription amount to be paid by each party for the transaction will
be up to a maximum of US$5 million.

The Co-Investment Vehicle will focus on the development, project management and construction of distributed solar
generated power projects in the PRC with an aggregate capacity of 30-40 Megawatts. The cooperation with
Macquarie Capital will broaden the Group’s strategic cooperation with international financial institutions, which
strengthens and improves the financial resources of the Group.

Cooperation with Administrative Committee of Wuxi Huishan Economic Development Zone

In addition to the incorporation of the remarkable Co-Investment Vehicle with Macquarie Capital, we also made
continuous progress on our new business initiatives. On 12 January, 2017, the Group entered into a strategic
framework cooperation agreement with the Administrative Committee of Wuxi Huishan Economic Development Zone
in relation to the proposed cooperation in the distributed solar power generation projects and the intelligent energy
charging facilities projects. Pursuant to the agreement, both parties agreed to cooperate exclusively with each other
in connection with solar projects in Huishan Economic Development Zone.

Acquisition of Forum (Asia) Limited
In March 2017, the Group has completed the acquisition of Forum (Asia) Limited to further expand the business of
rooftop solar projects.

Cooperation with Fuzhou Swire Coca Cola

On 8 May 2017, the Company successfully completed the construction of the Solar Power Generation Station in
Fuzhou. Pursuant to the Electricity Supply Agreement entered into by, amongst others, Fuzhou Comtec, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Fuzhou Swire Coca Cola, the Solar Power Generation Station was
constructed by Fuzhou Comtec to supply Fuzhou Swire Coca Cola with solar power electricity for a term of 25 years.
The Solar Power Generation Station was constructed on a rooftop covering an area of approximately 30,000 square
meters and its scale is approximately 2 Megawatts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cooperation with ISDN Holdings

On 25 May 2017, the Company entered into the Framework Agreement with ISDN Holdings, in relation to the
proposed strategic cooperation in the energy industry. After arm’s length negotiation, the parties incorporated the
JV Holdco in August 2017. The JV Holdco is named C&I Renewable Limited and owned as to 70% by our Company
and 30% by ISDN Holdings. The board of directors of the JV Holdco comprises three members, namely Mr. Zhang
Zhen and Mr. Chau Kwok Keung, each being an executive Director of our Company, and Mr. Teo Cher Koon, being
the managing director and president of ISDN Holdings. After incorporation of the JV Holdco, it will further establish
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the PRC. It is expected that the PRC subsidiary will set up and operate a distributed
generation solar power station with an estimated scale of approximately 1 Megawatt on the roof of a property owned
by ISDN Holdings located in Suzhou, the PRC. It is also expected that, upon commencement of operation of the
distributed generation solar power station, ISDN Holdings and/or its subsidiary(ies) will purchase generated power
from such power station at the relevant fair market price for a term of 20 years. The total investment amount to the JV
Holdco and its subsidiaries would be no more than RMB8 million. Upon the incorporation, each of the JV Holdco
and its subsidiaries will be accounted as a subsidiary of the Group and their financials will be consolidated to those
of the Group accordingly.

Acquisition of Kexin

On 25 May 2017, Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu), Kexin and the vendors of Kexin entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) agreed to acquire 70% equity interest of Kexin from the
vendors at a cash consideration of RMB14 million. Kexin is principally engaged in the research and development,
design, integration and sales of lithium battery management systems and lithium battery systems for electric
vehicles (including electric cars, electric motors and electric bicycles) to electric vehicle manufacturers and for
power storage systems to lithium battery manufacturers and to power storage companies. The acquisition
represented an attractive opportunity for the Group to expand into the business of the research and development,
design, integration and sales of lithium battery management systems and lithium battery systems for electric
vehicles (including electric cars, electric motors and electric bicycles) to electric vehicle manufacturers and for
power storage systems to lithium battery manufacturers and to power storage companies, which marked the
Group’s continuous efforts in diversifying its business.

The consideration payable by Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) for the Proposed Acquisition was RMB14 million, which
was determined after arm’s length negotiation between the parties by reference to, among others, (i) the potential
prospects of Kexin and its expected synergy with the Company, and (ii) the valuation of Kexin as at 12 May 2017.
The acquisition was completed in October 2017. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 25 May
2017 and 16 October 2017 for further details.

The above progresses marked the Group’s continuous efforts to develop and expand its new business initiatives. It
would also enhance our profit amounts and profitabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Share Placing

On 13 July 2017, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Rich Reach Holdings Limited (& 1% %
BBR7AF]), an independent third party, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
118,389,897 subscription shares at a subscription price of HK$0.2534 per share. The subscription has been
completed on 20 July 2017 with the 118,389,897 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Rich Reach Holdings
Limited (B ZILRxEBR 2 F)), generating the net proceeds of approximately HK$29.2 million, representing a net
subscription price of HK$0.247 per subscription share. The net proceed was expected to be used as general
working capital of the Group. As at the date of this report, the net proceed has been used up. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 13 July 2017 and 20 July 2017 for further details.

On 21 July 2017, the Company entered into another subscription agreement with Advanced Gain Limited, an
independent third party, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 190,912,714
subscription shares at a subscription price of HK$0.25 per share. The subscription has been completed on 18
October 2017 with the 190,912,714 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Advanced Gain Limited, generating
the net proceeds of approximately HK$46.93 million, representing a net subscription price of HK$0.2458 per
subscription share. The net proceed was expected to be used as general working capital of the Group. As at the
date of this report, the net proceed has been used up. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 21
July 2017 and 18 October 2017 for further details.

Revenues from our top five customers in 2017 represented approximately 46.2% of our total revenues, compared to
approximately 44.5% in the last year. The sales to our largest customer accounted for approximately 17.3% of our
total revenues in 2017 as compared to approximately 25.9% in 2016. The remaining of our sales in 2017 was mainly

shipped to Philippines, Japan and Korea. We continued to diversity and expand our customer basis.

The Group intends to explore opportunities in new business initiatives and expand further into downstream solar
business. We believe this strategy would fuel the growth of the Group and would try to create synergy through
integration of the downstream solar business with the Group’s existing upstream solar business. The acquisition of
Joy Boy Limited, Forum (Asia) Limited and Kexin represent attractive opportunities for the Group to expand into the
new business initiatives of renewable energy. To leverage on our advanced technological capabilities, high quality
product offerings, the strategic alliance with reputable strategic partners and the completed acquisitions to fill us
with the required talents and resources to drive the new business developments, we are confident to capture
enormous opportunities and drive continuous growth for the Group in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue decreased by RMB320.8 million, or 39.6%, from RMB810.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016
to RMB489.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, primarily as a result of the decrease in sales of
polysilicon due to the expiry of the long term purchase agreements and decrease in sales of the excess inventories
of polysilicon arising from such contractual obligation which materially reduced during the year. In addition, the
average selling prices of wafers decreased during the year. But it was partially mitigated by the increase in the sale
volume of wafers and ingots as well as revenue contributions from downstream businesses.

Sales of 156 mm by 156 mm monocrystalline wafers

Revenue from sales of 156 mm by 156 mm monocrystalline solar wafers increased by RMB115.0 million, or 125.5%,
from RMB91.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB206.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2017, primarily as a result of the increase in sales volume while it was partially offset by the decrease in average
selling price. The sales volume increased by 131.2MW, or 164.4% from 79.8MW for the year ended 31 December
2016 to 211.0MW for the year ended 31 December 2017, which was mainly due to the major market demand and
focus on larger-size monocrystalline silicon wafers. But it was partially offset by the decrease in average selling
price of RMB0.17 or 14.8%, from RMB1.15 per watt for the year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB0.98 per watt for
the year ended 31 December 2017 due to the competitive market environment.

Sales of 125 mm by 125 mm monocrystalline solar wafers

Revenue from sales of 125 mm by 125 mm monocrystalline solar wafers decreased by RMB172.1 million, or 80.0%,
from RMB215.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB42.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2017, primarily due to the decrease in both of sales volume and average selling price. The sales volume of 125 mm
by 125 mm monocrystalline wafers decreased by approximately 106.6MW, or 62.2%, from 171.3MW for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to 64.7MW for the year ended 31 December 2017, which was primarily due to the major
market demand and focus on larger-size monocrystalline silicon wafers instead of smaller ones. The average selling
price also decreased by RMB0.59, or 47.2%, from RMB1.25 per watt for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
RMBO0.66 per watt for the year ended 31 December 2017 due to the change of market landscape and our clearance

of the inventory of 125 mm by 125 mm monocrystalline solar wafers.

Others

The other revenues, mainly composed of revenues from the sales of excess inventory of polysilicon, downstream
project development services income, sales of ingots and trading revenue from sales of solar cells and modules.
Other revenues decreased by RMB263.7 million, or 52.4% from RMB503.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to RMB239.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. It was mainly due to the substantial decrease in
sales of excess inventory of polysilicon while it was partially mitigated by the increase in sales of ingot, new sources
of revenue from downstream project development services income and trading revenue from sales of solar cells and
modules and the increase in sales of ingots.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The revenue from the sales of excess inventory of polysilicon during the year was approximately RMB65.3 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB390.8 million or 85.7% from RMB456.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2016. The excess inventories were purchased under the long-term agreements with our major polysilicon
suppliers and the amount of such excess inventory dropped materially during the year due to the expiry of such
agreements. The sales volume of excess inventory of polysilicon was approximately 544.9 tons during the year,
representing a decrease of 3,835.5 tons or 87.6% from 4,380.4 tons in 2016.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the revenues from downstream project development services income was
approximately RMB47.2 million and the trading revenue from sales of solar cells and modules was approximately
RMB72.3 million. They were new sources of revenues generated during the year. In addition, the revenue from sales
of ingots for the year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately RMB45.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB15.9 millions or 53.7% from RMB29.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. It
represented approximately 9.3% of our total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017, representing an
increase from 3.7% for the year ended 31 December 2016. The increase in these revenues mitigated the drop of
revenue from sales of excess inventory of polysilicon.

In relation to the analysis of our revenue by geographical market, approximately 87.2% of total revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2017 was generated from our PRC customers (2016: 66.3%). Remaining portion was mainly
generated from our Philippines customer which represented approximately 7.5% of total revenue (2016: 25.9%).

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately RMB481.2 million, representing a decrease
of RMB481.4 million or 50.0% from RMB962.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The decrease was
mainly due to the substantial decrease in shipment volume of excess inventory of polysilicon and decrease in write-
down of inventory during the year ended 31 December 2017.

The shipment volumes of the excess inventory of polysilicon was approximately 544.9 tons during the year,
representing a decrease of 3,835.5 tons or 87.6% from 4,380.4 tons in 2016. The excess inventories were purchased
under the long-term agreements with our major polysilicon suppliers and the amount of such excess inventory
dropped materially during the year due to the expiry of such agreements.

The write-down of inventory was approximately RMB17.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 as compared
to RMB94.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. When the Group identifies items of inventories which
have a net realizable value that is lower than its carrying amount, the Group would write down such inventories in
that year. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the average selling price of the 125 mm by 125 mm
monocrystalline solar wafers and the 156 mm by 156 mm monocrystalline solar wafers decreased by approximately
47.2% and 14.8% respectively. Thus, there were inventories with net realizable values that are lower than their
carrying amounts, resulting in the write-down of inventory for the year ended 31 December 2017. But such write-
down dropped a lot comparing to that for the year ended 31 December 2016 after the disposal of assets and
properties of factory in Malaysia.
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Gross profit/(loss)
The Company recorded gross profit of approximately RMB8.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2017,
representing a turnaround from the gross loss of RMB152.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The turnaround to gross profit in 2017 was mainly attributable to the profitable downstream project development
businesses which commenced during the year. Also, the write-down of inventory for the year ended 31 December
2017 also decreased after disposal of assets and properties of factory in Malaysia. In addition, the cost of sales for
the year ended 31 December 2017 decreased by approximately 50.0% from the year ended 31 December 2016,

which outpaced the drop of revenue by approximately 39.6% during the year.

As a result of the foregoing, the Company recorded gross profit of RMB8.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2017, comparing to gross loss of approximately RMB152.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Other income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately RMB29.0 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB24.9 million, or 607.3%, from RMB4.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, mainly
due to the government subsidies of approximately RMB27.1 million granted to our downstream business in 2017.

Other gains and losses, expenses and provision

Other losses decreased by RMB710.3 million, or 93.0%, from RMB763.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to RMB53.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the amount
of other losses mainly included (i) losses on disposal of fixed assets of approximately RMB14.8 million and (ii) the
impairment losses recognized in respect of property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB36.9 million. The
amount of other losses for the year ended 31 December 2016 mainly included (i) the losses from disposal of assets
and properties of our Comtec Malaysia of approximately RMB339.3 million, (ii) the impairment losses recognized in
respect of property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB276.5 million and (iii) the accrued expenses for
termination of our Malaysia plant under construction as a result of the disposal of major assets and properties of
Comtec Malaysia and downsize of manufacturing business of approximately RMB149.0 million. Substantial amount
of other losses related to disposal of assets and properties of our Comtec Malaysia was incurred and recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2016. Thus the amount of other losses dropped substantially during the year.
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Impairment losses recognized in respect of property, plant and equipment

In assessing the impairment of property, plant and equipment, the Group requires to estimate the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units or the underlying assets. The recoverable amount, which is determined by the
value-in-use calculation, requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating units or the underlying assets and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. If the
recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount and impairment losses

would arose.

The competitive landscape for the traditional monocrystalline silicon wafer industry further deteriorated in the second
half of 2017. The selling price of monocrystalline silicon wafers dropped continuously during 2017. The Group thus
conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant and equipment which has made reference to the Group’s annual
shipment volume would be less than 500MW in future, the Group’s product mix would mainly focus on 156mm x
156mm “Super Mono” wafers, recent market demand for the Group’s products, the forecasted selling prices of our
products and of polysilicons would continue to decrease etc and determined that a number of those assets were
impaired, due to the adverse changes in the future economic conditions of the traditional solar wafer manufacturing
business in which the Group is engaging. Accordingly, impairment losses of RMB36.9 million have been recognized
in respect of plant and machinery, which are used in the Group’s manufacturing and sales of solar wafers and

related processing services.

Distribution and selling expenses

The distribution and selling expenses accounted for approximately 2.3% of the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2017 which had no material difference from the percentage recorded for the year ended 31 December
2016. The distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately RMB4.2 million, or 27.5%, from RMB15.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB11.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The
decrease was in line with the decrease in shipment volume during 2017.

Administrative and general expenses
Administrative and general expenses increased by RMB17.6 million, or 27.4%, from RMB64.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to RMB81.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. It was mainly due to the

additional amount of amortization expense of RMB21.3 million in relation to intangible assets.
Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses decreased by RMB1.0 million, or 14.5%, from RMB6.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to RMB5.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

16 Comtec Solar Systems Group Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Interest expenses

Interest expenses were approximately RMB15.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, representing an
increase of RMB6.8 million from RMB9.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, which was mainly due to
increase of financing costs during the year ended 31 December 2017. The effective interest rate upon the bank loan

balances as at 31 December 2017 was approximately 7.5%.

Loss before taxation
Loss before taxation of RMB131.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, representing a decrease from the

loss before taxation of RMB1,007.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, as a result of the foregoing.

Taxation

The Group recorded taxation expenses of approximately RMB14.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017
which was mainly due to the taxable profits recorded by certain subsidiaries in China under the corporate income
tax rate of 25%. However, the Group did not incur significant tax expenses for the year 31 December 2016 since no

assessable profits were derived or tax losses were incurred from the Group entities during that year.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a loss of RMB145.4 million during 2017, representing a decrease from the loss of RMB1,007.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2016, as a result of the foregoing. Net loss margin for the year ended 31
December 2017 was 29.7%, comparing to the net loss margin of 124.3% for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Inventory turnover days

The inventories of the Group mainly comprised of raw materials (namely polysilicon, crucibles and other auxiliary
materials) for production requirements, work in process and finished goods. There was a decrease in inventories
balance of 77.4% from RMB191.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB43.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017. The decrease was mainly due to the efforts to downsize the scale of traditional
manufacturing wafer business and to reduce inventory level. The inventory turnover days as at 31 December 2017
were 33 days in total (2016: 72 days).

Trade receivable turnover days

The trade receivable turnover days as at 31 December 2017 totaled 42 days (2016: 41 days). For the year ended 31
December 2017, the Group has closely supervised the repayment status of debtor balances. The credit period
granted to customers is approximately 7 to 180 days on case-by-case basis. The average receivable turnover days
were approximately 42 days which was within the credit periods of the Group grants to its customers.

Trade payable turnover days

The trade payable turnover days as at 31 December 2017 totaled 64 days (2016: 97 days). The Group has obtained
continuous supports from long term and strategic suppliers during the challenging industry environments.
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Liquidity and financial resources

The Group’s principal sources of working capital included bank borrowings and the proceeds from the share
placements. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 0.7
(31 December 2016: 1.0) and it was in a net debt position of approximately RMB157.6 million (2016: approximately
RMB168.8 million). The Group had a working capital deficit (total consolidated current liabilities exceeded total
consolidated current assets) of RMB101.0 million as of 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB28.8 million). However, the
Group still maintained net assets of approximately RMB242.1 million as of 31 December 2017. In additions, although
there are no assurance that the Group will be able to refinance its short-term bank loans when they become due,
historically, the Group has rolled over or obtained replacement borrowings from existing credit for most of its short-
term bank loans upon the maturity date of the loans. The Group has assumed it will continue to be able to do so for
the foreseeable future. Also, we had downstream projects with book value of approximately RMB38.0 million in our
book as at 31 December 2017. We would consider to dispose the projects when we receive offers with reasonable
profits or require additional funding. There was an amount of RMB9.9 million of contingent consideration payable in
the current liabilities which expected to be settled by issue of share and would not involve any cash out flow. The
Group has also adopted strict control of operating and investing activities. And we would consider to raise funding

from placement of new shares when required.

On 13 July 2017, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Rich Reach Holdings Limited (& EE %
BR/AF]), an independent third party, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
118,389,897 subscription shares at a subscription price of HK$0.2534 per share. The subscription has been
completed on 20 July 2017 with the 118,389,897 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Rich Reach Holdings
Limited (BZEIZRAR A R]) , generating the net proceeds of approximately HK$29.2 million, representing a net
subscription price of HK$0.247 per subscription share. The net proceed was expected to be used as general
working capital of the Group. As at the date of this report, the net proceed has been used up. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 13 July 2017 and 20 July 2017 for further details.

On 21 July 2017, the Company entered into another subscription agreement with Advanced Gain Limited, an
independent third party, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 190,912,714
subscription shares at a subscription price of HK$0.25 per share. The subscription has been completed on 18
October 2017 with the 190,912,714 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Advanced Gain Limited, generating
the net proceeds of approximately HK$46.93 million, representing a net subscription price of HK$0.2458 per
subscription share. The net proceed was expected to be used up. As at the date of this report, the net proceed has
been used as working capital of the Group. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 21 July 2017
and 18 October 2017 for further details.

Although there are no assurance that the Group will be able to raise capital when we require additional funding,

historically, the Group has been able to raise capital in each of last few years when required. The Group has
assumed it will continue to be able to do so for the foreseeable future.
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Save as disclosed herein, the Company has not conducted any equity fund raising activities in the past twelve
months preceding the date of this report. The Group would implement a balanced financing plan to support the

operation of our business.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2017, the capital commitments were approximately RMB41.9 million (2016: nil) which were
mainly related to the construction in process downstream projects. Such amounts are expected to be billed and
booked as payables upon completion of such projects. The Group currently has no plan to further expand its
production capacity of traditional manufacturing business. In addition, the Group would carefully plan for the
expansion of its downstream solar business which would depend on and subject to the market conditions and

opportunities.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2017, other than the balance of contingent consideration payables of approximately RMB52.0
million (2016: RMB 93.8 million), the Group had no other contingent liabilities.

Related Party Transactions

On 25 May 2017, Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu), Kexin and the vendors of Kexin entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) of Kexin agreed to acquire 70% equity interest of Kexin
from the vendors at a cash consideration of RMB14 million.

The consideration payable by Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) for the Proposed Acquisition was RMB14 million, which
was determined after arm’s length negotiation between the parties by reference to, among others, (i) the potential
prospects of Kexin and its expected synergy with the Company, and (ii) the valuation of Kexin as at 12 May 2017.
Such acquisition was completed in October 2017. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 25 May
2017 and 16 October 2017 for further details.

Save from the above and other than the remuneration the Group paid to the Directors and key management, the

Group did not have any related party transactions for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2017, other than the short term bank deposits of approximately RMB20.9 million (31 December
2016: RMB126.6 million), the Group also pledged its buildings, investment property, prepaid lease payments and
the power station of two downstream projects having net book values of approximately RMB98.5 million (31
December 2016: RMB137.8 million), RMB86.0 million (31 December 2016: Nil), RMB13.8 million (31 December
2016: RMB23.1 million) and RMB16.9 million (31 December 2016: Nil) respectively to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no Group asset was under charge to any financial institution.
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Acquisition of subsidiary

On 14 November 2016, the Company, Forum (Asia) Limited, and its original shareholders entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire 51% of the entire issued share capital of
Forum (Asia) at a total maximum consideration of RMB52.02 million from its original shareholders. The consideration
is to be satisfied by the Company by allotting and issuing new shares to the original shareholders of Forum (Asia)
under the specific mandate sought from the shareholders of the Company (unless the Company opted to pay in
cash with the consent of its original shareholders). In March 2017, the Group has completed the acquisition of
Forum (Asia) Limited. This acquisition represented an attractive opportunity for the Group to expand into the
business of rooftop solar project.

On 25 May 2017, Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu), Kexin and the vendors of Kexin entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) agreed to acquire 70% equity interest of Kexin from the
vendors at a cash consideration of RMB14 million. Kexin is principally engaged in the research and development,
design, integration and sales of lithium battery management systems and lithium battery systems for electric
vehicles (including electric cars, electric motors and electric bicycles) to electric vehicle manufacturers and for
power storage systems to lithium battery manufacturers and to power storage companies. The acquisition
represented an attractive opportunity for the Group to expand into the business of the research and development,
design, integration and sales of lithium battery management systems and lithium battery systems for electric
vehicles (including electric cars, electric motors and electric bicycles) to electric vehicle manufacturers and for
power storage systems to lithium battery manufacturers and to power storage companies, which marked the
Group’s continuous efforts in diversifying its business. The acquisition was completed in October 2017. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 25 May 2017 and 16 October 2017 for further details.

Disposal of assets of a subsidiary

On 30 December 2016, the Company, Comtec Malaysia and Longi entered into an asset transfer agreement,
pursuant to which Comtec Malaysia agreed to sell and Longi agreed to purchase the assets of Comtec Malaysia at
a total consideration of RMB200.0 million. Such disposal was completed in June 2017.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 342 (2016: 805) employees. The decrease was mainly due to the
downsizing of our manufacturing business. The remuneration of the existing employee includes basic salaries,
discretionary bonuses and social security contributions. Pay levels of the employees are commensurate with their
responsibilities, performance and contribution.
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Details of the future investment plans for material investment

The Group is planning to expand to the downstream business. Due to the rapid changing market environment, the
Group prefers to maintain flexibilities throughout the expansion process and avoid fixing a capacity target under a
pre-determined timeline. The Group has yet to make any capital commitments for its downstream solar business,
other than the projects under construction, which would depend on and subject to the market conditions and
opportunities. We believe this strategy would enable the Group to maximize its advantages from the industry

consolidation process.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and any related hedges

The Group recognized net exchange losses of approximately RMB3.9 million (2016: approximately RMB10.1 million),
which mainly arose from monetary assets and liabilities of the group entities denominated in foreign currencies. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy but the management has been monitoring foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Annual Report 2017 21



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. John Yi Zhang, aged 55, is as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board of the Company, responsible
for the overall strategy and operation of our Group. Mr. Zhang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Zhang has accumulated over ten years of experience in the semiconductor and solar industries from both his
founding and development of the Group and his prior professional experience. Prior to founding the Group, Mr.
Zhang joined Silicon Systems Inc. which was a semiconductor technology company in California, U.S., in 1992 as
an engineer and was responsible for developing and designing communication firmware used in silicon chips. Mr.
Zhang graduated from j5% K& (Tsinghua University) in July 1985 with a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical

Engineering and from Utah State University with a Master's degree in Electrical Engineering in August 1988.

Mr. Zhang Zhen, aged 49, is an executive Director, the chief executive officer. He was also the president of the
Company from 3 October 2016 to 19 April 2017. He is also currently a director of certain of the subsidiaries of the
Group, including Comtec Renewable Energy Group Limited (formally known as Joy Boy HK Limited). Mr. Zhang is
primarily responsible for overseeing the Group’s downstream solar power business. Mr. Zhang has extensive
experience in the downstream solar business and served as the president and co-founder of Enfinity HK
Development Ltd. for its operation of downstream solar business in the PRC since 2008. Mr. Zhang graduated from
Beihang University with a bachelor’'s degree in electronic engineering in July 1993 and then obtained a master’
degree in business administration from the University of lllinois in May 1999.

Mr. Chau Kwok Keung, aged 41, is an executive Director, the chief financial officer of the Group and the company
secretary of the Company, responsible for corporate financial and general management. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. He was also appointed as (i) an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee of Qingdao Port International Co., Ltd., a listed company on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 6198), in May 2014; (i) an independent director of The9 Limited, whose shares are listed by way of
American Depository Shares on the NASDAQ (NASDAQ: NCTY), in October 2015; and (iii) an independent non-
executive director and the chairman of the audit committee of China Xinhua Education Group Limited, a listed
company on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2779) in October 2017. He acted as a member of supervisory board
of RIB Software AG, a software company in Germany, which was listed in Frankfurt Stock Exchange, from May 2010
to June 2013. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chau served in various positions at China.com Inc., a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8006) from October 2005 to October 2007, including vice president of the
finance department, chief financial officer, company secretary and authorised representative. Prior to joining China.
com Inc., he was the deputy group financial controller of China South City Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1668) from August 2003 to April 2005 and the financial controller of Shanghai Hawei
New Material and Technology Co., Ltd. from June 2002 to August 2003. Mr. Chau was employed by Andersen & Co.
initially as an experienced staff accountant and then he was subsequently promoted to be a senior consultant in the
Global Corporate Finance Division of Andersen & Co. in March 2002. Mr. Chau has been a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since June 2002, a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since July 2005 and a Chartered Financial Analyst of CFA Institute since September 2003. Mr.
Chau received a bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in May
1998.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Yixin, aged 46, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wang acted as the director of the port affairs bureau and the
director assistant and the deputy director of the management committee of Wuxi Jiangyin Lingang Economic
Development Zone* (5T RS2 E) from February 2006 to September 2015. He is currently the general
manager of Shanghai Xizheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (L/8ERIEIREEEHR A7) since September 2015
and the general manager of Guangdong West Environmental Protection Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (BX
FAERRIRIE B H S E IR HR A 7)) since April 2016. Mr. Wang graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University with a bachelor’s
degree in industrial electric automation in July 1994, and obtained a master’s degree in business administration from
Nanjing University in June 2001. Mr. Wang is now pursuing a doctor’s degree in global finance business administration
in Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance of Shanghai Jiaotong University. Mr. Wang also passed the professionals
qualification test of the securities industry organised by the Securities Association of China in June 2015.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Ming Shu, aged 42, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Leung is currently the chief financial
officer and company secretary of China ITS (Holdings) Co., Ltd. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Cabbeen Fashion Limited, a listed company on the Stock Exchange (code: 2030), and Sun King Power Electronics
Group Limited, a listed company on the Stock Exchange (code: 580). He acted as an independent non-executive
director of B FAREBEIZR AR 7] (Shengli Oil & Gas Pipe Holdings Limited) , a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (code: 1080) from January 2011 to April 2013. Mr. Leung is experienced in the areas of corporate finance
and accounting from his various roles detailed below. From November 2006 to January 2008, Mr. Leung served as
the chief financial officer of Beijing Lingtu Spacecom Technology Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of Beijing Lingtu Software
Co., Ltd, a PRC digital mapping and navigation software company. From February 2006 to October 2006, Mr. Leung
served as the chief financial officer of Beijing Xinwei Telecom Technology Co., Ltd, a related party of XEEZERHE
f&1nBBR A7) (Datang Telecom Technology Co., Ltd, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) which is
engaged in the development of a telecommunications standard and the manufacturer of telecommunications
equipment. Prior to that, Mr. Leung spent approximately three years from February 2003 at CDC Corporation, a
NASDAQ-listed company, as a senior manager in the mergers and acquisitions department, and as the chief
financial officer of China.com Inc., a subsidiary of CDC Corporation and a company listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Leung started his professional career at PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong in auditing in 1998, and
subsequently worked at the global corporate finance division of Arthur Andersen & Co. in Hong Kong, which
subsequently merged with PricewaterhouseCoopers, until December 2000. From July 2001 to February 2003, he
also worked as a business consultant in Market Catalyst International (Hong Kong) Limited, where he advised
companies on issues of strategy, organisation and operations. Mr. Leung obtained a First Class Honours Bachelor’s
degree in accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in June 1998 and a Master’s degree in accountancy
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2001. He is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since February 2007 and a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since March 2006.
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Mr. Kang Sun, aged 63, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Sun is currently the president and chief
executive officer of RayTracker Inc., Pasadena, California, USA and a venture partner of WI Harper Group, San
Francisco, California USA. Prior to that, Mr. Sun worked from September 2007 to August 2008 as the president and
chief operating officer of JA Solar Holding Ltd, China, a company listed on NASDAQ (Code: JASO), managing
director of new business development at Applied Materials Inc., USA since 2005. Prior to that, in different periods of
time between 1990 and 2005, he had served as the vice president of Microfabrica Inc., the vice president of
Honeywell International Inc., USA and the general manager of Optical Devices Business, AlliedSignal Inc., USA,
respectively. Mr. Sun received a Ph.D. degree in Materials Science from Brown University, USA in 1988, a M.S.
degree in Physical Chemistry from University of Georgia, USA in 1983 and a B.S. degree in Polymer Chemistry from
A2 (Nanjing University), China in 1978.

Mr. Xu Erming, aged 69, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Xu is currently a professor and the dean of
Shantou University (JI1ZE8X£2) Business School and vice chairman of the Chinese Enterprise Management Research
Association. He is entitled to the State Council’s special government allowances. Mr. Xu was once the dean of the
Business School and the assistant dean of the Graduate School of Renmin University of China (FBI AR KE). He
was also an independent supervisor of Harbin Electric Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code of 1133). Over the years, Professor Xu has conducted research in areas related to strategic
management, organisational theories, international management and education management, and has been
responsible for research on many subjects put forward by the National Natural Science Foundation, the National
Social Science Foundation, and other authorities at provincial and ministry level. He has received many awards such
as the Ministry of Education’s Class One Excellent Higher Education Textbook Award, the State-Level Class Two
Teaching Award and the National Excellent Course Award. Mr. Xu has been a visiting professor at over 10 domestic
universities and has been awarded the Fulbright Scholar of U.S.A. twice. Professor Xu was previously a lecturer at
the New York State University at Buffalo, U.S.A., the University of Scranton, U.S.A., the University of Technology,
Sydney, the Kyushu University, Japan, Panyapiwat Institute of Management, Thailand and the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Xu is also currently the independent non-executive director of China Telecom Corporation
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange with stock codes of “728” and
“CHA", respectively). Mr. Xu graduated from Renming University of China with a bachelor's degree in industrial
economic management in December 1982 and also obtained a master’s degree and doctorate degree in economy
from Renming University of China in October 1989 and January 1998, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tang Huantong, aged 37, is the chief operation officer of the Company. Mr. Tang has extensive experience in
the downstream solar business. Mr. Tang Huantong served as the executive vice-president of Jetion Solar (China)
Co., Ltd.* (FEMMEBEREFRM AR AF]), a company principally engaged in providing customers with sustainable
solutions involving solar cells, solar modules and solar power plants, and was responsible for the solar module
business and downstream solar business for the period commencing from 2009 to 2015. Mr. Tang graduated from
Xi'an Polytechnic University with a bachelor’'s degree in administrative business management in July 2001 and
further obtained a master’s degree in administrative business management for senior management from Nanjing
University in March 2013.

Mr. Wu Cheng Xian, aged 70, is the vice general manager and the head of the manufacturing department of the
Group. He is mainly responsible for stipulating and implementing manufacturing plan, supervising quality control,
coordinating manufacturing and the operations of the other departments in our Group. He joined the Group in
October 2008. Mr. Wu has approximately 40 years of experience in the related industry. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Wu worked as the vice general manager in 2852 & FMEBR AR (MCL Electronic Materials Co. Ltd.) from
October 1999 to September 2008, responsible for daily manufacturing and sales, quality control and human
resources management. He worked in J&F5 58 &M (Luoyang Monocrystalline Silicon Factory), which is now j&F5 5
it BRE T2 7 (Luoyang Monocrystalline Silicon Co., Ltd.) from August 1968 to September 2008, as the
manufacturing department head and then promoted to vice general manager in February 1994, responsible for daily
manufacturing and sales of semiconductor materials, quality control and human resources management. Mr. Wu
studied in #{®)A€ TE 2K (Jiande Metallurgy Industrial School), which is now 3HET (Jiaxing Institute) since
September 1963, majoring in Statistics and graduated in August 1968 with a secondary technical school degree.
Mr. Wu received a junior college degree in Statistics in December 1988 by National self-taught examination. Mr. Wu
was appraised as the senior economist in November 2006 by F A &% 8 T%#1%E (China Nonferrous Metals
Industry Committee) according to nonferrous metals industry credential requirements.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chau Kwok Keung. Please refer to the biography of Mr. Chau above.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the design, development, manufacture and marketing
of solar wafers and ingots, with a focus on high quality monocrystalline solar wafers, and the investment,
development, construction and operation of solar photovoltaic power stations. The Company and its subsidiaries are
also engaged in the research and development, design, integration and sales of lithium battery management
systems and lithium battery systems.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2017 are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 78 to 175 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the audited consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Board recommended that since the Company plans to reserve the cash for working capital requirement and any
potential investment opportunities in the future, no dividend will be declared for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Company may consider its dividend policy in the future according to the financial results and performance of

the Company, and the general industry and economic environment.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 32 to the financial statement, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
approximately RMB194,402,000. The amount of approximately RMB194,402,000 represents the Company’s share
premium account of approximately RMB1,504,483,000 which is offset by accumulated losses of approximately
RMB1,310,081,000 in aggregate as at 31 December 2017, which may be distributed provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
The Company made charitable and other donations of RMB 100,000 during the year under review.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the financial year are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and as of the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. John Yi Zhang (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Zhen

Mr. Chau Kwok Keung

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yixin
Mr. Donald Huang (resigned on 19 April 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Kang Sun

Mr. Leung Ming Shu

Mr. Xu Erming (appointed on 19 April 2017)

Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin (resigned on 19 April 2017)

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each of the existing independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Zhang Zhen, Mr. Kang Sun and Mr. Xu
Erming will retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Each of Mr. Zhang Zhen, Mr.
Kang Sun and Mr. Xu Erming, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election. No Director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on pages 22 to 25 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

On 25 May 2017, Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu), Kexin and the vendors of Kexin entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Comtec Renewable (Jiangsu) agreed to acquire 70% equity interest of Kexin from the
vendors at a cash consideration of RMB14 million. Kexin is principally engaged in the research and development,
design, integration and sales of lithium battery management systems and lithium battery systems for electric
vehicles (including electric cars, electric motors and electric bicycles) to electric vehicle manufacturers and for
power storage systems to lithium battery manufacturers and to power storage companies. Mr. Zhang Zhen, an
executive Director, is one of the ultimate holders of the vendors of Kexin. The acquisition was completed in October
2017. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 25 May 2017 and 16 October 2017 for further
details.

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements or contracts to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director or its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the
Companies Ordinance) had a material interest in, whether directly or indirectly, and subsisted as of 31 December
2017 or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors” under the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” for details of the service contracts of the Directors.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract

which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of

compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their respective associates had

the following interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which

the Directors and the chief executive of the Company are taken and deemed to have under such provisions of the

SFO, or which are required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO

or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

Long positions in the Company:

Name of Director Nature of interest

Mr

.John Yi Zhang' Beneficiary of a trust, interest in a
controlled corporation, interest of
spouse and interest of children under 18

Mr. Zhang Zhen? Interest in a controlled corporation/
Beneficial owner

Mr. Chau Kwok Keung? Beneficial owner

Mr. Wang Yixin* Beneficial owner

Mr. Kang Sun® Beneficial owner

Mr. Leung Ming Shu® Beneficial owner

Mr. Xu Erming” Beneficial owner

Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin® Beneficial owner

Notes:

(1)

Number of
shares
interested

629,283,550

141,402,615

14,728,000
200,000
749,574
562,787
200,000
499,659

Approximate
percentage of
interest in

the issued
share capital

of the Company

30.00%

6.74%

0.70%
0.01%
0.04%
0.03%
0.01%
0.02%

Fonty, which is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang, held 576,453,844 Shares. For the purposes of the SFO, Mr. Zhang is
also deemed to be interested in 47,829,706 Shares which are beneficially owned by Mr. Alan Zhang, Mr. Zhang’s child
under the age of 18, as beneficiary of Zhang Trusts For Descendants, which is an irrevocable trust set up by Mr. Zhang for
the benefit of his descendants and of which J.P. Morgan Trust Company of Delaware is the trustee. For the purpose of the
SFO, Mr. Zhang is also deemed to be interested in 5,000,000 underlying Shares by virtue of share options granted to him to
subscribe for 5,000,000 Shares under the Company’s Share Option Scheme on 28 June 2012.
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The 141,402,615 Shares in which Mr. Zhang Zhen is deemed to be interested represent (1) 96,627,076 Shares held by True
Joy Renewable Limited, a company which is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Zhen; (2) the 1,500,000 Shares which may be
issued to him upon the exercise of the Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 2 May 2017 under the Share
Option Scheme (as defined below); and (3) a remaining maximum of 43,275,539 consideration Shares which may be issued
to him or a company designated by him, pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered into by, amongst others, the
Company and Mr. Zhang Zhen, dated 7 July 2016. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 7 July 2016
and 29 August 2017 for further details.

The 14,728,000 Shares in which Mr. Chau Kwok Keung is deemed to be interested represent 14,728,000 Shares which may
be issued to him upon the exercise of the Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 28 June 2012, 31 March 2014
and 2 May 2017 under the Share Option Scheme (as defined below).

The 200,000 Shares in which Mr. Wang Yixin is deemed to be interested represent 200,000 Shares which may be issued to
him upon the exercise of the Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 2 May 2017 under the Share Option
Scheme (as defined below).

The 749,574 Shares in which Mr. Kang Sun is deemed to be interested represent 749,574 Shares which may be issued to
him upon the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 3 August 2009 and 2 October
2009 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 27 December
2012 and 2 May 2017 under the Share Option Scheme.

The 562,787 Shares in which Mr. Leung Ming Shu is deemed to be interested represent 562,787 Shares which may be
issued to him upon the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 3 August 2009 and 2
October 2009 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 27
December 2012 and 2 May 2017 under the Share Option Scheme.

The 200,000 Shares in which Mr. Xu Erming is deemed to be interested represent 200,000 Shares which may be issued to
him upon the exercise of the Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 2 May 2017 under the Share Option
Scheme (as defined below).

The 499,659 Shares in which Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin is deemed to be interested represent 499,659 Shares which may be
issued to him upon the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share Options (as defined below) granted to him on 3 August 2009 and 2
October 2009 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (as defined below) and the Share Options (as defined below)
granted to him on 27 December 2012 under the Share Option Scheme (as defined below). Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin resigned
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 19 April 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had or

was deemed to have any interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company

and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register

maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2017 was the Company, its holding

company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executive of the

Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or short positions in the

shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2017, the persons or
corporations (other than Director or chief executive of the Company) who had interest or short positions in the
Shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Approximate
percentage of

interest in
Number of the issued
shares share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest interested of the Company
Fonty Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 576,453,844 27.48%
Ms. Carrie Wang' Interest of spouse 629,283,550 30.00%
Harmony Gold Ventures Corp? Beneficial owner 154,651,306 7.37%
Shanghai Hengqu Internet Interest in a controlled corporation 154,651,306 7.37%
Technology Co., Ltd.*?
Jiangyin Jinqu Capital Interest in a controlled corporation 154,651,306 7.37%
Management Co., Ltd.*?
Mr. Wang Yixin (£ Z57)2 Interest in a controlled corporation 154,651,306 7.37%
Advanced Gain Limited?® Beneficial owner 190,912,714 9.10%
Mr. Wu Zhegiang?® Interest in a controlled corporation 190,912,714 9.10%
Ms. Zhang Xiaogin* Beneficial owner/Interest in a 114,367,897 5.45%
controlled corporation
Notes:

(1)  Ms. Carrie Wang is the spouse of Mr. John Yi Zhang, therefore, pursuant to the SFO, she is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares in which Mr. John Yi Zhang is interested.

(2)  Harmony Gold Ventures Corp is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanghai Hengqu Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (L/81BRE
G4RI R AR A A), which is wholly-owned by Jiangyin Jinqu Capital Management Co., Ltd.* (LT REAEERGRAF)),
which is in turn owned as to 99% by Mr. Wang Yixin (£2%F). Therefore, each of Shanghai Hengqu Internet Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (L8EREEMAEHEAR AR, by Jiangyin Jinqu Capital Management Co., Ltd.* (Tfam&EEAREREFR A A]) and
Mr. Wang Yixin (E£%F) is deemed to be interested in the 154,651,306 Shares held by Harmony Gold Ventures Corp.

(3) Advanced Gain Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wu Zhegiang. Therefore Mr. Wu Zhegiang is deemed to be interested in the
190,912,714 Shares held by Advanced Gain Limited.

(4) The 114,367,897 Shares in which Ms. Zhang Xiaogin is deemed to be interested represent (i) 98,443,897 Shares held by
Rich Reach Holdings Limited, which is wholly owned by Ms. Zhang Xiaogin; and (ii) 15,924,000 Shares held by herself.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors of the Company are not aware of any other person
or corporation having an interest or short position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
require to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 2 June 2008 (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the
purpose of giving its employees an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and helping motivate its
employees to optimize their performance and efficiency, and retaining its employees whose contributions are
important to the long-term growth and profitability of the Group. Options to subscribe for an aggregate of 574,020
Shares (the “Underlying Shares”) were granted to three independent non-executive Directors on 3 August 2009 and
2 October 2009, in respect of 230,000 Underlying Shares and 344,020 Underlying Shares, respectively. The
exercise price per Share is HK$2.51, which is at a 19.5% premium to the final Offer Price in the Global Offering. No
further options would be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on or after the Listing Date.

All options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Options”) can only be exercised in
the following manner: (a) Shares representing 1/12th of the Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of
options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall vest on 1 November 2009; (b) from 1 November 2009
onwards, the remaining 11/12th of the Underlying Shares shall vest in equal quarterly instalments of 1/12th of the
Underlying Shares at the end of each three-month period subject to continued employment with our Company
during that period and all other terms and conditions as described in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; and (c) all
outstanding Pre-IPO Share Options shall lapse on the date falling 10 years from the offer date of the Pre-IPO Share
Options.

Details of the movement of the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2017 are as follows:

Exercise  Balance as at Balance as at
price 1 January Exercised Lapsed Cancelled 31 December
Grantee Date of Grant per Share 2017 during 2017 during 2017 during 2017 2017
Director
Kang Sun 3 August 2009 HK$2.51 249,574 - - - 249,574
Daniel DeWitt Martin® 3 August 2009 HK$2.51 199,659 - - - 199,659
Leung Ming Shu 3 August 2009 HK$2.51 62,787 - - - 62,787
Total 512,020 - - - 512,020
Note:

(1) Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin resigned as a Director on 19 April 2017.

Save as disclosed above, no Pre-IPO Share Options was granted, lapsed or cancelled for the year ended 31
December 2017.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 2 October 2009 for the purpose
of motivating eligible persons to optimize their future contributions to the Group and/or reward them for their past
contributions, attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going relationships with such eligible persons who
are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the
Group. Eligible person refer to (a) an executive; (b) a director or proposed director (including an independent non-
executive director) of any member of our Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our Group; (d) a
supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group; (e) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture
partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member of our Group; (f) a person or entity that provides
design, research, development or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of our Group; and (g) an associate of any of the foregoing person.

Upon adoption, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issued as at the Listing Date, that is, 100,000,000 Shares.

On 24 December 2015, the scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme was refreshed with a maximum
number of 139,186,175 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue as at 24 December 2015. As at the date of this
report, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes of the Company is 139,186,175 Shares representing 9% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

No option may be granted to any participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period up to
the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
determined by the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no minimum period for which
an option must be held before it can be exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay the
Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days after the offer date. The exercise price of the
options is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a Share;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
Business Days immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing Date, after which no
further options will be granted or offered.
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Details of the share options granted, exercised and lapsed under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2017 are as follows:

Exercise  Balance as at Balance as at
price per 1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled 31 December
Grantee Date of Grant Share 2017 during2017  during2017  during2017  during 2017 2017
Director
Mr. Zhang Zhen 2 May 2017 HK$0.335 - 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
Mr. Chau Kwok Keung 2 May 2017 HK$0.335 - 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
Mr. Wang Yixin 2 May 2017 HKS$0.335 - 200,000 - - - 200,000
Mr. Leung Ming Shu 2 May 2017 HKS$0.335 - 200,000 - - - 200,000
Mr. Kang Sun 2 May 2017 HKS$0.335 - 200,000 - - - 200,000
Mr. Xu Erming 2 May 2017 HKS$0.335 - 200,000 - - - 200,000
Other participants in aggregate 2 May 2017 HKS$0.335 - 24,400,000 - - - 24,400,000
QOther participants in aggregate 9 September 2016 HK$0.56 89,000,000 - - - - 89,000,000
Other participants in aggregate 25 November 2015 HKS0.736 59,000,000 - - - - 59,000,000
Other participants in aggregate 26 June 2015 HK$1.500 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000
Other participants in aggregate 11 May 2015 HK$1.390 59,800,000 - - - - 59,800,000
Director
Mr. Chau Kwok Keung 31 March 2014 HK$1.386 13,000,000 - - - - 13,000,000
Other participants in aggregate 31 March 2014 HK$1.386 22,650,000 - - - - 22,650,000
Other participants in aggregate 30 September 2013 HK$1.870 4,020,000 - - - - 4,020,000
Director
Mr. Kang Sun 27 December 2012 HK$1.262 300,000 - - - - 300,000
Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin(™ 27 December 2012 HK$1.262 300,000 - - - - 300,000
Mr. Leung Ming Shu 27 December 2012 HK$1.262 300,000 - - - - 300,000
Other participants in aggregate 27 December 2012 HK$1.262 6,638,000 - - - - 6,638,000
Director
Mr. John Yi Zhang 28 June 2012 HKS$0.980 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000
Mr. Chau Kwok Keung 28 June 2012 HKS$0.980 228,000 - - - - 228,000
Other participants in aggregate 28 June 2012 HK$0.980 3,956,000 - - - - 3,556,000
Other participants in aggregate 24 May 2010 HK$1.490 2,240,000 - - - - 2,240,000
286,032,000 28,200,000 - - - 314,232,000
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Notes:

(1)

Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 24 May 2010 shall vest in the relevant grantee in accordance with
the timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for the purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options
are to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest
24 May 2010 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
30 June 2011 50% of the total number of Share Options granted

Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 28 June 2012 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the
timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for the purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options are
to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

28 June 2012 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
28 September 2012 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
28 December 2012 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
28 March 2013 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
28 June 2013 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted

Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 27 December 2012 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with
the timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options
are to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

27 December 2012 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
27 March 2013 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
27 June 2013 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
27 September 2013 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
27 December 2013 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted

Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 30 September 2013 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with
the timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options
are to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

30 September 2013 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
30 December 2013 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
30 March 2014 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
30 June 2014 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
30 September 2014 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
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(5)  Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 31 March 2014 vest in the relevant grantee in accordance with
the timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for the purpose, the date or each such date on which the Share Options
are to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

The 30,800,000 share options (including the Share Option granted to Mr. Chau Kwok Keung) shall be subject to a vesting
period as followings:

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

31 March 2014 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
30 June 2014 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
30 September 2014 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
31 December 2014 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
31 March 2015 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted

The remaining 5,850,000 share options shall be subject to a vesting period as followings:

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

31 March 2014 1/3 of the total number of options granted
30 June 2014 1/12 of the total number of options granted
30 September 2014 1/12 of the total number of options granted
31 December 2014 1/12 of the total number of options granted
31 March 2015 1/12 of the total number of options granted
30 June 2015 1/12 of the total number of options granted
30 September 2015 1/12 of the total number of options granted
31 December 2015 1/12 of the total number of options granted
31 March 2016 1/12 of the total number of options granted

(6)  Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 11 May 2015 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the
timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options are
to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

11 May 2015 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
11 August 2015 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
11 November 2015 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
11 February 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
11 May 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
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(7)  Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 26 June 2015 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the
timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options are
to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

26 June 2015 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
26 September 2015 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
26 December 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
26 March 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
26 June 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted

(8)  Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 25 November 2015 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with
the timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options
are to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

25 November 2015 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
25 February 2015 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
25 May 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
25 August 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
25 November 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted

(9)  Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 9 September 2016 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with
the timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options
are to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

9 September 2016 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
9 December 2016 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
9 March 2017 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
9 June 2017 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
9 September 2017 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
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(10) Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 2 May 2017 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the
timetable below with a 10-year exercise period (for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options are
to vest being hereinafter referred to as a “Vesting Date”):

The 17,800,000 Share Options (including the Share Options granted to the Directors) shall be subject to a vesting period as

followings:

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

2 August 2017 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 November 2017 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 February 2018 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 May 2018 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 August 2018 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 November 2018 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 February 2019 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 May 2019 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted

The remaining 10,400,000 Share Options shall be subject to a vesting period as followings:

Vesting Date Percentage of Share Options to vest

2 May 2017 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 August 2017 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 November 2017 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 February 2018 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted
2 May 2018 12.5% of the total number of Share Options granted

(11) The Company granted a total of 32,400,000 Share Options on 2 May 2017, among which 4,200,000 were not accepted by
the relevant grantees.

(12) Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin resigned as a Director on 19 April 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 save as disclosed above, no options granted under the Share Option
Scheme were lapsed or cancelled.

Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Share Option Schemes” above and the issue of consideration Shares to Mr. Zhang Zhen for
the acquisition of Joy Boy HK Limited (currently know as Comtec Renewable Energy Group Limited) pursuant to a
sales and purchase agreement entered into by, among others, the Company and Mr. Zhang Zhen dated 7 July
2016, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2017, were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Share in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director of the Company or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Save for the placing of new Shares as disclosed in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” in this report, during
the year ended 31 December 2017, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

FUND RAISING AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 18 July 2017, the Company entered a subscription agreement with Rich Reach Holdings Limited (the “Rich
Reach”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 118,389,897 subscription
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.2534 per Share to Rich Reach. The subscription has been completed on 20
July 2017 with the 118,389,897 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Rich Reach, generating the net proceeds
of approximately HK$29.2 million, representing a net subscription price of HK$0.247 per subscription share, which
was expected to be used as general working capital of the Group. As at the date of this annual report, the net
proceeds have been used up. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13 July 2017 and 20 July
2017 for further details.

On 21 July 2017, the Company entered a subscription agreement with Advanced Gain Limited (the “Advanced
Gain”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 190,912,714 subscription shares
at a subscription price of HK$0.25 per Share to Advanced Gain. The subscription has been completed on 18
October 2017 with the 190,912,714 subscriptions shares allotted and issued to Advanced Gain, generating the net
proceeds of approximately HK$46.93 million, representing a net subscription price of HK$0.2458 per subscription
share, which was expected to be used as general working capital of the Group. As at the date of this annual report,
the net proceeds have been used up. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 21 July 2017 and
18 October 2017 for further details.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not conducted any other equity fund raising activities during the year
ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this annual report.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of his/her compliance with the non-compete
undertakings provided to the Company under the Non-competition Deeds (as defined in the Prospectus). The
independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all
the undertakings under the Non-competition Deeds have been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, that competes or
competed or is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2017 and up to and including the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of

the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Save for the acquisition of Kexin as disclosed in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” in this report, the

Company has not entered into any other connected transactions during the year ended 31 December 2017.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance practices and procedures with a
view to being a transparent and responsible organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The
Board strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound corporate governance
practices to meet the legal and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure
and accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of the
Company. The Company believes that effective corporate governance is an essential factor to create more value for
its Shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of the Group
from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimize return for Shareholders.

Except for the deviations from code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, during the year 31
December 2017, the Company has complied with the Corporate Governance Code. On 19 April 2017, Mr. John Yi
Zhang resigned and Mr. Zhang Zhen was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company, following which
the Company is able to comply with code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Group’s principal
corporate governance practices are set out on pages 46 to 58 of the annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at the end of and during the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Company did not enter into (i) any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares; or (ii) any

agreement requiring the Company to enter into any agreement specified in (i).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 164 of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which the Directors or any of the Directors shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts; and none of the Directors shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of the other or others
of them or for joining in any receipts for the sake of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any
moneys or effects belonging to the Company shall or may be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for
insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any moneys of or belonging to the Company shall be placed
out on or invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in the execution of their respective
offices or trusts, or in relation thereto; provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman
Islands where the Company is incorporated applicable to the Company.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems
of the Group, which are designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide

reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The principal risks related to the Group are set forth as below:

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks includes rapid change in the market conditions of the solar and power storage industry,
downturn pressure on the government subsidies to the relevant industry and selling price of solar and power storage
products. The Board is responsible for the overall management of the business and review of material business

decisions involving material risks exposures from time to time.

Financial Risk

The Group adopts financial risk management policies to manage its currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Board also reviews monthly management accounts, capital structure and key operating data of the
Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board adopts procedures to ensure the Company is in compliance with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The Company engages professional advisors and consultants to keep the Company abreast of the
latest developments in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial, environmental and operational
developments. The Company also adopts a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorized use or dissemination of

confidential or inside information.

Operational Risk
The Company adopts procedures to manage its operational risk such as inadequate management efficiency,
inefficient raw material procurement, production facilities utilization in its ingot and wafer manufacturing, downstream

projects and power storage business.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
covering business, financial, compliance and operational risks of the Group and is satisfied that such systems are

effective and adequate.

EMPLOYEES

Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group and the Group regards the personal development of
its employees as highly important. The Group wants to continue to be an attractive employer for committed
employees. The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career path and trainings for advancement and
improvement of their skills. The Group has also adopted the Share Option Scheme to recognize and reward the
contribution of the employees to the growth and development of the Group.
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Emolument Policy
The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications and competence of individual employees and

are reviewed by the remuneration committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the remuneration committee and are decided by the Board,
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes to motivate and reward its Directors and eligible employees.
Details of the scheme are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above and note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group participates in a defined contribution mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000 for eligible employees. Contributions
by the Group, which are matched by the employees, are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated income statements as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group and are
invested in funds under the control of independent trustees. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of basic salaries of the
employees to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme. The contributions are
charged to the consolidated income statements as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the state-

managed retirement benefits scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits beyond the annual contributions
described above.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest customers during the year of 2017 were 17.3%
and 46.2% of the Group’s total sales, respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest suppliers during the year of 2017 were
21.8% and 56.0% of the Group’s total purchases, respectively.
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So far as is known to the Directors, at no time during the year did a Director, his/her associate(s) or a Shareholder,
which to the knowledge of the Director owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any
of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

The Group built long term relations with suppliers and customers and the Group treasures the technical and cost
competitiveness of each other and provides supports to each other.

The Group has established strong relationships with numerous suppliers of high quality virgin polysilicon feedstock.
The Group has an average of approximately twelve years of relationships with the Group’s major suppliers. The
Group has been able to rely on these relationships with its suppliers to provide the Group with a stable supply of
polysilicon feedstock to meet the current production requirements. The strength of the relationships with long-term
suppliers allows the Group to manage the raw materials procurement efficiently.

The Group has also established a number of long-term relationships with key customers in the solar power industry.

The Company believes its strong customer base will provide the Group with the critical support necessary for further
expanding the Group’s business and ensure that the Group is well-positioned to capture future growth opportunities
in the solar power and power storage industry.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
The Group is specialized in providing energy saving and environmentally-friendly products. In addition, the Group is
committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation that pays close attention to conserving energy.

The Group strives to operate in compliance with the relevant environmental regulations and rules and has instituted
various measures to comply with applicable laws and regulations, including measures to monitor and control waste
water and waste chemicals. The Group currently has in-house waste water treatment facilities and external waste
chemicals processing facilities. The facility maintenance team oversees the Group’s compliance with environmental
and waste treatment laws and regulations.

The Company believes that there are no environmental protection laws and regulations which may adversely affect
the Group’s production in any material respect, and the Group is currently in compliance in all material aspects with
all applicable environmental laws and regulations for the year ended 31 December 2017.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.
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AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

REVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed together with the management and external auditors the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the audited annual consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules for the period from the Listing Date to 31 December
2017.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2017 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 as set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Review” in this annual report is expressly included in this
directors’ report and forms part of this directors’ report.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

C&l Renewable Limited, a 70% owned subsidiary, has established a wholly-owned subsidiary in Singapore, namely,
C&l Singapore Renewable and Innovative Tech Pte. Ltd. (“C&I Singapore”), which will be primarily engaged in the
research and development of blockchain technology and the related infrastructure in relation to, and the application
of such technology and infrastructure to distribution of solar generated energy.

On 1 February 2018, C&l Singapore entered into a strategic cooperation agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation
Agreement”) with The9 Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“The9 Singapore”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of The9 Limited, a
company listed on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation (ticker symbol: NCTY) in
relation to the proposed cooperation in relation to blockchain technology. Pursuant to the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement, The9 Singapore will provide C&I Singapore (including its relevant subsidiaries) with services, solutions
and operational advice in relation to blockchain technology and the application of such technology to the distribution
of solar generated energy. The parties also contemplate to explore further cooperation opportunities together with a
view to creating an efficient and decentralised platform for the trading and distribution of solar generated energy.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the five financial years ended 31

December 2017 is set out on page 176 of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
John Yi Zhang
Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance practices and procedures with a
view to being a transparent and responsible organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The
Board strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound corporate governance
practices to meet the legal and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure
and accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of the
Company. The Company believes that effective corporate governance is an essential factor to create more value for
its Shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of the Group
from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimize return for Shareholders.

Except for the following deviations from code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Under provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Before 19 April 2017, Mr. John Yi Zhang
was the chairman and chief executive officer of the Group. He has extensive experience in solar wafer industry and
is responsible for the overall corporate strategies, planning and business management of the Group. The Board
considered that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the same individual was beneficial to the
business prospects and management of the Group. With effect from 19 April 2017, in order to promote the good
corporate governance of the Group to differentiate the roles between the chief executive officer and the chairman of
the Board under the Listing Rule, Mr. John Yi Zhang resigned and Mr. Zhang Zhen was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company. Following the resignation of Mr. John Yi Zhang and the appointment of Mr. Zhang
Zhen as the chief executive officer of the Company, the Company is able to comply with paragraph A.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code, which requires that the roles of chairman and the chief executive should be separate
and not be performed by the same individual. The balance of power and authorities is also ensured by the operation
of the Board and the senior management, which comprise experienced and high caliber individuals. The Board
currently comprises three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors and has a strong independence element in its composition.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested in the Board.

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Group, including the formulation and
approval of all policy matters, overall strategic development of the Group, monitoring and controlling the Group’s
operation and financial performance, internal control and risk management systems, and monitoring of the
performance of the senior management. The Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.
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The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the chief executive
officer and the senior management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors, consisting of three executive Directors,
Mr. John Yi Zhang (the chairman of the Board), Mr. Zhang Zhen and Mr. Chau Kwok Keung, one non-executive
Director, Mr. Wang Yixin, and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kang Sun, Mr. Leung Ming Shu and
Mr. Xu Erming. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Each executive
Director is suitably qualified for his position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his
duties effectively and efficiently. Biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed

“Biographic Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial, business or family relationship among the
members of the Board.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules to appoint at least three independent non-
executive Directors. In addition, at least one independent non-executive Director possesses appropriate
professional accounting qualifications or financial management expertise in accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-
third of the Board and is in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to the new code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code relating to board diversity which has come
into effect since 1 September 2013, the Board approved a new board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
in August 2013. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While all Board
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis, the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and

educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge.

Model Code

The Company has also adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors of the Company,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding

directors’ securities transactions for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant role in the Board by bringing their independent
judgment at the Board meeting and scrutinizing the Group’s performance. Their views carry significant weight in the
Board’s decision, in particular, they bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Group’s strategy, performance
and control. All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry
expertise and management experience and have provided their professional advices to the Board. The independent
non-executive Directors provide independent advice on the Group’s business strategy, results and management so
that all interests of Shareholders can be taken into account, and the interests of the Company and its Shareholders

can be protected.

The Board has three independent non-executive Directors with one of them, Mr. Leung Ming Shu, possessing
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise in compliance with the

requirements set out in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each of the existing independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations,
the Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent and that they have met

the specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Training and Support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Any newly appointed Director would receive an
induction package covering the Group’s operations, businesses, governance policies and the statutory regulatory
obligations and responsibilities of a director of a listed company. The Directors have been informed of the
requirement under code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code regarding continuous professional
development. According to the records maintained by the Company, the current Directors received the following
training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the
new requirement of the New Code on continuous professional development for the year ended 31 December 2017:

Corporate Governance/ Accounting/Financial/
Updates on Laws, Management or
Rules and Regulations Other Professional Skills
Attend Attend
Read Seminars/ Read Seminars/
Name of Director materials Briefings materials Briefings
Executive Directors
Mr. John Yi Zhang v v 4 v
Mr. Chau Kwok Keung v v v v
Mr. Zhang Zhen v v v v
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yixin v v v v
Mr. Donald Huang (resigned on 19 April 2017) v v 4 v
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Kang Sun v v v v
Mr. Leung Ming Shu v v v v
Mr. Xu Erming (appointed on 19 April 2017) v v v v
Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin
(resigned on 19 April 2017) v v v v
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Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors
and officers.

Meetings
The Board meets to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group
from time to time. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic means of communications.

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board and the general meetings during the

year ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
Board General
Name of Director Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
Executive Directors
Mr. John Yi Zhang (Chairman) 16/16 3/3
Mr. Zhang Zhen 16/16 3/3
Mr. Chau Kwok Keung 16/16 3/3
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yixin 16/16 3/3
Mr. Donald Huang (resigned on 19 April 2017) 5/16 1/3
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Kang Sun 16/16 3/3
Mr. Leung Ming Shu 16/16 3/3
Mr. Xu Erming (appointed on 19 April 2017) 11/16 2/3
Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin (resigned on 19 April 2017) 5/16 1/3

All Directors are provided with relevant materials relating to the matters brought before the meetings. They have
separate and independent access to the senior management and the company secretary of the Company at all time
and may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Where queries are raised by Directors,
steps would be taken to respond as promptly and fully as possible. All Directors have the opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for Board meetings. Notices of at least 14 days of Board meetings are given to the Directors
and Board procedures comply with the articles of association of the Company, as well as relevant rules and

regulations.
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Appointments, Re-election and removal of Directors
Mr. Donald Huang and Mr. Daniel Dewitt Martin resigned as a non-executive Director and an independent non-
executive Director, respectively, on 19 April 2017. On the same date, Mr. Xu Erming was appointed as an

independent non-executive Director.

Each of Mr. John Yi Zhang, Mr. Zhang Zhen and Mr. Chau Kwok Keung, being an executive Directors of the
Company has entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific term of two years commencing form
the Listing Date, 3 October 2016 and the Listing Date, respectively, and will automatically continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other, which notice shall not

expire until after the fixed term.

Mr. Wang Yixin, being the non-executive Director of the Company, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a specific term of two years commencing from 3 October 2016 and will continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other, which notice shall not

expire until after the fixed term.

Each of Mr. Kang Sun, Mr. Leung Ming Shu and Mr. Xu Erming, being an independent non-executive Directors of
the Company, has entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific term of two years commencing
form the Listing Date, the Listing Date and 19 April 2017, respectively, and will automatically continue for another
three years thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the

other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

The above service contracts are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting at

least once every three years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

The articles of association of the Company provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-

election.

Board Committees

The Board has established (i) audit committee, (ii) remuneration committee; (iii) nomination committee and (iv)
corporate governance committee, with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference of the board committees
which explain their respective role and the authority delegated to them by the Board are available on the website of
the Company at www.comtecsolar.com and the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice and other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s

expenses.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution of the Directors passed on 2 October 2009.
The primary duties of the audit committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment and
removal of external auditors, review the financial statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting,
and oversee the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. Their composition and written terms
of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the audit
committee comprised of three members, namely, three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Leung Ming Shu,
Mr. Kang Sun and Mr. Xu Erming. Mr. Leung Ming Shu is the chairman of the audit committee.

The Group’s unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2017, and the audited annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2017 have been reviewed by the audit committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of the relevant financial statements complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. The audit committee has also reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and selection and appointment of the external auditors. In addition,
the audit committee reviewed the unaudited quarterly financials and the internal control of the Group and oversaw
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group during the year of 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, four meetings were held by the audit committee. The individual record of
each member of the audit committee at the meetings of the audit committee is set out below:

Attendance

Number of

Committee

Name of Director Meeting(s)
Mr. Leung Ming Shu 4/4
Mr. Kang Sun 4/4
Mr. Xu Erming (appointed on 19 April 2017) 3/4
Mr. Donald Huang (resigned on 19 April 2017) 1/4
Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin (resigned on 19 April 2017) 1/4
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee on 2 October 2009 with written terms of reference. The primary
duties of the remuneration committee to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
(including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment), and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Their composition and written terms
of reference are in line with the CG Code. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration committee
comprised of four members, namely, Mr. John Yi Zhang, an executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Kang Sun, Mr. Leung Ming Shu and Mr. Xu Erming. Mr. Leung Ming Shu is the chairman of
the remuneration committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, two meetings were held by the remuneration committee. The individual
record of each member of the remuneration committee at the meeting of the remuneration committee is set out

below:
Attendance/
Number of
Committee
Name of Director Meeting(s)
Mr. John Yi Zhang 2/2
Mr. Leung Ming Shu 2/2
Mr. Kang Sun 2/2
Mr. Xu Erming (appointed on 19 April 2017) 1/2
Mr. Donald Huang (resigned on 19 April 2017) 1/2
Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin (resigned on 19 April 2017) 1/2

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 2 October 2009 with written terms of reference. The primary
duties of the nomination committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis
and to recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for directors after consideration of the nominees’
independence and quality in order to ensure the fairness and transparency of all nominations. In identifying suitable
director candidates and making such recommendations to the Board, the nomination committee would also take into
account various aspects of a candidate, including but not limited to his/her education background, professional
experience, experience with the relevant industry and past directorships. Their composition and written terms of
reference are in line with the CG Code. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the nomination committee
comprised of four members, namely, Mr. John Yi Zhang, an executive Director and the chairman of the Board and
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kang Sun, Mr. Leung Ming Shu and Mr. Xu Erming. Mr. John Yi
Zhang is the chairman of the nomination committee.
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The nomination committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, during the year of 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, one meeting was held by the nomination committee. The individual
record of each member of the nomination committee at the meeting of the nomination committee is set out below:

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

Name of Director Meeting(s)
Mr. John Yi Zhang 1/1
Mr. Kang Sun 11
Mr. Leung Ming Shu 1/1
Mr. Xu Erming (appointed on 19 April 2017) -
Mr. Donald Huang (resigned on 19 April 2017) 1/1
Mr. Daniel DeWitt Martin (resigned on 19 April 2017) 11

Corporate Governance Committee

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried out by the corporate governance committee established
pursuant to a resolution of the Board passed on 30 March 2012. The duties of the corporate governance committee
include: (a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the Directors; and (e) to review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, the corporate governance committee of the Board comprised three Directors, namely
Mr. John Yi Zhang, an executive Director, Mr. Chau Kwok Keung, an executive Director, and Mr. Leung Ming Shu,

an independent non-executive Director. Mr. John Yi Zhang is the Chairman of the corporate governance committee.

During the year of 2017, the corporate governance committee reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and; reviewed the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management of the Group; reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; reviewed the compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and
the Directors; and reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, two meetings were held by the corporate governance committee. The
individual record of each member of the corporate governance committee at the meeting of the corporate

governance committee is set out below:

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

Name of Director Meeting(s)
Mr. John Yi Zhang 2/2
Mr. Chau Kwok Keung 2/2
Mr. Leung Ming Shu 2/2
Mr. Donald Huang (resigned on 19 April 2017) 1/2

Company Secretary

The secretary of the Company is Mr. Chau Kwok Keung, whose biography details are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report. Mr. Chau Kwok Keung has been
informed of the requirement of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chau Kwok Keung has informed the Company
that he took approximately 20 hours of training covering corporate governance and accounting matters. The
Company considers that the training of the company secretary is in compliance with the requirements under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the finance department, is responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Company and the Group for each financial year which shall give a true and fair view
of the financial position, performance and cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for that period. The Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s external auditors, on the financial statements are
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) is responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the authorized external auditors and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the
external auditors. The Company engages Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its external auditors. Details of the fees paid/
payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows.

RMB000

Audit services 2,100

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are featured with a defined management structure with
limits of authority and well-rounded policies and procedures, and are designed to facilitate effective and efficient
operations, to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, to identify
and manage potential risks, and to safeguard assets of the Group. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board also recognises its overall responsibility for the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. In addition,
the Audit Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and assessing the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems. During the year of 2017, the Company has adopted the following policies and procedures

and taken the following measures to improve the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management and internal control system, the Company has
established various management and control procedures and adopted a Compliance Manual (“Risk Management
and Internal Control Procedures”) for identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant risks associated with the
achievement of its operational objectives. The Company has completed the Risk Management and Internal Control
Procedure with scientific analysis and assessment, to recognize potential risk points. By virtue of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Procedure, the senior management of the Group reviews and evaluates the
internal control process, monitors any risk factors on a regular basis, and reports to the Board on any findings and
measures taken to address such variances and identified risks. The Board, with the assistance of the senior
management of the Company, also conducts regular management meetings and on-site inspections to check and
monitor the potential risks associated with the business operation and financial management of the Group.
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With the integration of the real situation of the Company and various applicable laws and regulations, the
management of the Company can act in concert with such to develop solutions towards the risks, to organize the
business operation systematically, and to monitor and mitigate possible risks. The Company also formulated and
distributed a Compliance Manual and Internal Audit Charter, etc. internally to require all staff of the Group to comply
with these internal risk management and internal control standards, and together build a regulatory environment of
risk control and standardized operation. In addition, the Company has also established policies and procedures
with clear segregation of duties applicable to certain operating units to ensure the effectiveness of risk management
and internal controls. The day-to-day operation is also entrusted to the individual department, which is accountable
for its own conduct and performance, and is required to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board or the Audit
Committee. This process was in place throughout 2017 and is subject to continuous improvement.

Meanwhile, the Company has updated the terms of reference and procedures of the Audit Committee accordingly in
November 2015 to conform the new “Corporate Governance Code” requirements. Meanwhile, with the assistance of
the professional auditor, the Audit Committee supervised the Company’s revenue and expenditure for the financial
and economic activities, to further strengthen the functions of risk management, to ensure the effective
implementation of risk management and internal control system and the Company’s standardized operation and
healthy development. In order to comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance Code in
relation to the corporate risk management and internal controls, the Company has established an internal audit
department for the purposes of simultaneous updates between the corporate governance and the Code on
Corporate Governance and continuously improving the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal controls.

During the year of 2017, the Company provided inside information training courses to the Directors and senior
management of the Company to ensure that all relevant facts and circumstances that may have material effect on
the share price of the Company is assessed in a timely manner and that any material information which comes to the
knowledge of any one or more officers of the Group be promptly identified, assessed and, if appropriate, escalated

for the attention of the Board to determine whether a disclosure is required.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal control systems are maintained
so as to safeguard the Group’s assets and the interest of Shareholders. The Board has developed its systems of
internal control and risk management and is also responsible for reviewing and maintaining an adequate internal
control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

During the year of 2017, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, has conducted reviews of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company twice and considered the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company are adequate and being implemented effectively. Such review covered all material
controls, financial, compliance and operational controls as well as risk management mechanisms.

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, has also reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of
the Company’s resources, the staff’'s qualifications and experience, the training courses and the related budgets in
accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions.

Annual Report 2017 57



Corporate Governance Report

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any one or more member(s) of the Company
(“Shareholder(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company by mail at Suite 33, 35/F, Central Plaza, 18
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the secretary of
the Company by mail at Suite 33, 35/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email at
billy_law@comtecsolar.com. The company secretary of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and communications relating to ordinary

business matters, such as suggestions and inquiries, to the chief executive officer of the Company.

Constitutional documents
There has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2017.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with Shareholders of
the Company and investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure the investors and the shareholders of the Company receiving accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely
information of the Group by the publication of annual reports, announcements and circular. The Company also
publishes all corporate correspondence on the Company’s website www.comtecsolar.com. The Board maintains
regular dialogues with institutional investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed of the Group’s
strategy, operations, management and plans. Members of the Board and of the various board committees will attend
the annual general meeting of the Company and answer questions raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions
would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the procedures for conducting poll before

putting a resolution to vote. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the meeting and published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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This environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report (the “ESG Report”) was prepared to present the Group’s
performance of corporate social responsibility and environmental protection for the year ended 31 December 2017.
This ESG Report takes the Company as the main body and covers all the subsidiaries of the Company.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting. In line with the Corporate
Governance Code, the Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the Company’s ESG-related risks, and
ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place. The
management of the Company confirm to the Board that these systems are in place and effective.

The Company has established internal control policies and systems to ensure compliances with the relevant rules
and regulations of the jurisdiction where it operates. The management of the Company keeps regular communication
and supervision to ensure the appropriate operation of the Group. Risk and defects identified will be discussed and
reported to board if any.

Please see section “Risk management and internal control” for more details.

PART | ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

The Group carries out strict policies and procedures to monitor and treat the emissions of the four categories of
pollutants specified by the state (waste water, waste gases, solid wastes and noise) and is committed to developing
and introducing new technologies, and higher efficiency of pollutant treatment.

The principal manufacturing facilities of the Group are based in the PRC. The Group strictly complies with the rules

and regulations of the PRC in regards with emission. The Company does not generate any Greenhouse gas or
hazardous waste during manufacturing process.
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The main non-hazardous waste generated during the production is dust and sludge, most of which is processed by
appropriate means. Sludge was sent to brickyard and then rebuilt to brick. Dust was sprayed by water and handled
by waste water treatment process. In 2017, the Group reduced the generation of the non-hazardous waste mainly
by improving diamond saw skills and subcontracting the slicing process. In 2017, the Group processed 219.4
tonnes of sludge, representing a decrease of 87.6% from 1,769.9 tonnes of sludge processed in 2016. In 2017, the
Group processed 0.583 tonne of dust, representing a decrease of 87.5% from 4.7 tonnes processed in 2016. In
2017, the Group was not subject to any penalties or fines as a result of non-compliance with environment laws and

regulations.

Non-hazardous waste sludge processed in 2016 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 540
Haian plant 776.6
Malaysia plant 453.3
Non-hazardous waste sludge processed in 2017 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 53.6
Haian plant 56.6
Malaysia plant 109.2
Non-hazardous waste dust processed in 2016 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 1.13
Haian plant 1.85
Malaysia plant 1.72
Non-hazardous waste dust processed in 2017 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 0.175
Haian plant 0.058
Malaysia plant 0.35
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The below diagram sets out the general waste water treatment process of the Group:

General Waste Water Treatment Process

Silicon/Rinse waste water

Chemical Treatment (PAC)/

Holder Tank/Buffer (Equalizer) Clarifier Pond

Caustic Soda/Polymer

Filter Press Sludge Storage Pond

Sludge Cake

Ever since the commencement of the production of the Group, the Group has been focusing on environment
protection and strictly following the below relevant applicable environment regulations and standards:

Type Standard/Regulations

Air Integrated emission standard of air pollutants GB16297-1996
Environmental Quality (Clean Air) Regulations 1978
(Incorporated latest amendments — P.U. (A) 309/2000)
Water Integrated wastewater discharge standard GB8978-1996
Noise Level Emission standard for industrial enterprises noise at boundary GB12348-2008

During the year of 2017, the Group was in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact of the Company relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and

generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

The Group will endeavour to further reduce waste emission in the future and actively address environmental issues
in a responsible manner by continuing to refine the manufacture process and upgrade existing wasting process
unit, establishing a waste monitoring system, modifying pollution treatment facilities and establishing a corporate
culture that values environmental protection.
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Uses of Resources

The Group has minimised energy consumption in production and operation and strived for clean production by
continuously promoting effective energy-saving technologies and improving production skills, so as to achieve
sustainable development. The Group mainly consumes electricity, water and packaging materials (including paper
boxes, form material and sponges) during its production, storage, packaging and transportation process.

In 2017, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group achieved a substantial increase in production efficiency by hot zone
design, improvement of production skills and utilisation of facilities and new materials, resulting in a reduction of
electricity consumption per unit of monocrystalline silicon by 16% for the year ended 31 December 2017 as
compared with that for the year ended 31 December 2016. Meanwhile, the Group also cultivates employees’
awareness on environmental protection and advocates green office work through employee training and education
to minimise environmental impact in the course of management and daily operation of the Group. In 2017, the
Group’s plants consumed 114,927,117 kWh of electricity, representing a decrease of 18.8% from 141,469,366 kWh
consumed in 2016.

Electricity consumption in 2016 Unit: kWh
Shanghai plant 9,977,896
Haian plant 42,676,470
Malaysia plant 88,815,000
Electricity consumption in 2017 Unit: kWh
Shanghai plant 2,143,541
Haian plant 61,643,653
Malaysia plant 51,139,923

The Group also has policies and internal procedures to minimise usage of water under control of a log book, to set a
specific temperature to allow the usage of air conditioners and to make sure cars shall be used effectively. In
addition, the Group reduces consumption of resources by subcontracting certain production process and deepens
innovation in management and recycling of packaging materials by reducing inventory backlog, avoiding claim of
excessive materials and strengthening recovery management, to effectively reduce the use of packaging materials
and avoid waste. In 2017, the Group’s plants consumed 651,675 tonnes of water resources, representing a
decrease of 64.5% from 1,835,188 tonnes consumed in 2016. In 2017, the Group’s plants consumed 11.85 tonnes
of packaging materials (paper boxes), representing a decrease of 59.1% from 28.94 tonnes consumed in 2016. The
Group do not have any issue to secure required water resources for our production and operation.

Water resources consumption in 2016 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 436,499
Haian plant 341,417
Malaysia plant 1,057,272
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Water resources consumption in 2017 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 240,495
Haian plant 213,772
Malaysia plant 197,408
Packaging materials (paper boxes) consumption in 2016 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 11.33
Haian plant 8.18
Malaysia plant 9.43
Packaging materials (paper boxes) consumption in 2017 Unit: tonne
Shanghai plant 5.72
Haian plant 3.46
Malaysia plant 2.67

The Environment and Natural Resources

With response to the government’s call on environment protection and energy saving, the Group continues to
implement green office practices, cultivate employees’ environment protection awareness and promote energy
saving. The measures taken by the Group include the use of energy-saving lightings and recycled paper, the
minimisation of use of paper, the reduction of energy consumption by switching off idle lightings, computers and
electrical appliances, the use of teleconferencing as an alternative to travel, the monthly monitor of electricity
consumption in production and operation, the maintenance of records and statistics, the formulation of maintenance

plans of major electrical appliances, the prevention of increase in electricity consumption due to equipment aging

Environmental protection and sustainable development
The Group is dedicated to advancing the penetration of green energy and mitigating the harm caused by global
climate change as a result of greenhouse effect. The Group has achieved carbon neutral status through our

photovoltaic power station business.
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PART Il SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

Understanding that staff is one of our most valuable assets, we have established comprehensive staff policies and
welfare guidelines to attract and retain talent. We strive to ensure a safe and healthy workplace, which also serves

as a platform for staff to excel in career and personal growth.

As of 31 December 2017, the total staff headcount, composition, and turnover rate of the Group are illustrated as

follows:

Gender Age
50 & Above

41-50 29

155
\_ 21-30

31-40

Geography Type
Taiwan 1 3 Malaysia

Canada 1

Senior Management

Management

263
Staff ,
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Staff by Gender Staff by Age
50 & Above 20 & Below

Female
TN\

We have internal policies to request all local operation to comply with the relevant rules and regulations relating to
labor use and labor management. Management of the Company regularly communicates with each of the local
operation teams to ensure such compliance and would strictly review the remedial measures to rectify any non-
compliance notice or charges from the government authorities or complaints from our staffs.

The Group has established and perfected a welfare system suitable for enterprise development and employees’
growth, built a remuneration management system and continuously perfected the remuneration scheme. Further, in
accordance with national regulations, it pays social insurance and provident fund for employees and employer
liability insurance for employees, provides various benefits such as subsidies on holidays and festivals, home
leaves, meal allowance, and subsidies for mobile phone bill for employees, truly enabling employees to feel happy
at work and in turn work hard due to the happy working environment.

During the year of 2017, the Group was in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to guarding its staff's health and safety. Various guidelines on work safety and emergency
response, regarding daily operations, have been in place for staff to ensure their compliance. Notices are also
posted in work places to constantly remind staff of wearing applicable personal safety equipment, and maintain an
accident-free working environment together. The Group organizes various training modules on occupational health
and safety to raise safety awareness amongst staff. Working environment is reviewed and evaluated on a regular
basis, and improvement from time to time.

Health and Safety performance Performance
Number of work-related fatalities 1
Lost days due to work injury 50
Number of accident 3

During the year of 2017, the Group was in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
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Development and Training

The Group emphasizes staff development, and allocates annual training budgets as necessary to support
employees’ all-round training program. Staff is encouraged to participate in internal and external training
opportunities per their duties. These training courses and seminars cover a wide range of topics, such as
management skills, communication skills, and specific technical skills, which help strengthen their professional
knowledge. The Group also encourages staff's self-learning to support employees’ personal development.

Total Training hours by employee category Hours
Top Management Level 20
Senior Management Level 72
General Staff 336

Labour Standards

The Group advocates a merit-based principle based on staff competency, to assemble a highly-efficient team. The
Group offers a fair workplace by establishing clear staff policies and management controls, which respects equal
opportunities, eliminates sexual harassment, provides grievance mechanisms, promotes anti-corruption, and
ensures personal data confidentiality.

The company has implemented internal policies to require all HR departments in different locations to comply with
national and local labour laws, including these related to child ad forced labour, and the management of the
Company also makes regular communications with the head of the HR departments in different locations to ensure
the compliance of the labor laws. In 2017, there were no instances of discrimination, child labor, forced labor or
violations of employees’ interests.

During the year of 2017, the Group followed the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to preventing child and forced labour.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group adheres to open, fair and transparent criteria in selecting suppliers and service providers, and has
established a supplier qualification system in terms of price, quality, cost, delivery and after-sales service. The
Group will carry out long-term quality monitoring and conduct regular reviews on all suppliers as well as casual
examinations on different suppliers to ensure sustainable quality material supplies and services.

Geographical region Number of suppliers

China 160
Malaysia 20
Korea
Germany
Philippines
Hong Kong

—_ 4
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Product Responsibility

The Group has policies to request all departments including sales and production to ensure all business and
operation be complied with rules and regulations. Management communicate with staffs and department head and
customers regularly and would review if any complaints, charges or lawsuits in these areas.

The Group has developed its brands and technologies for its products and therefore the protection of the Group’s
intellectual property rights is of critical importance. It is the Group’s policy to register trademarks and invention
patents in most of the major countries where such trademarks or patents are used or will be used soon. The Group
will take appropriate steps to police infringements of its intellectual property rights and take necessary proceedings
to protect its intellectual property rights. The Group also have Q&A and Complaint processes and to make sure after
sale service qualities.

To regulate production and management, improve product quality and reduce production of unqualified products
and waste of resources, the Group has established and strictly enforced a quality management system that covers
the product life cycle ranging from procurement of raw materials to production process control to process
supervision and inspection of finished products. Meanwhile, the Group has also strengthened quality inspection in
its subsidiaries, branches and consortiums, monitored process quality control indices and thus uncovering and
resolving product quality problems on a timely basis.

In order to provide consumers with genuine high-quality products, the Group has developed “a system” to
strengthen rights protection against competing products suspected of infringing the patent of the Group. In the
meantime, the Group has also developed “International Patent Application Process”, gradually extended protection
of intellectual property rights to overseas markets and strengthened protection of patents abroad.

Here is flowchart of the Company’s QA and after sale services.

Quality Assurance Flow Chart — Productivity Review

Dept. Production
STEP Sales QA Control

Receipt of Customer )
Requirement Requirement & Spec.

Manufacturing Customer

Review

Productivity F

Productivity Review .
\L If necessary

Sample Delivery .
Forecast < R

Production Cost Review
w . If necessary ) )

|
l
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Quality Assurance Flow Chart — Sample Preparation
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Quality Assurance Flow Chart — Spec. Issue
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Quality Assurance Flow Chart — Complaint Processing

Dept. .
Sales QA Production

Manufacturing Customer
STEP Control

Compilaint

Processing | [N
Return Material < Investigation of Cause
Authorization Issue of Nonconformities 1 Di isfi
" issatisfied
\%
Issue the Corrective Cruse ArelEs
Action Request Y
Clhizel thg Y ' Mplementation
Implementation

. Corrective Action

Submit the CAR
If Satisfied |,

Complaint Closed

Number or percentage

Total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons 0
Products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with 0

During the year of 2017, the Group was in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and methods of redress.

Anti-corruption

The Group values credibility and integrity and follows the principle of fairness in its daily operations. At the same
time, the Group has clarified its determined stance on fighting against corruption and deception to all employees,
suppliers and business partners. Appropriate binding terms have been introduced accordingly to respective
contracts to ensure the relevant parties acted under the Group’s requirement. The Company has distributed an
internal staff compliance handbook which implicitly forbids any corruption and also designated a personnel to be
the contact person for the staff if any such case is noted.

All staffs are expected to observe ethical, personal and professional conduct. In additional to the Staff Code of

Conduct on anti-bribery and anti-corruption, the Group has established whistle-blowing system and procedures,
whistle-blowers of verified cases will be rewarded accordingly.
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During the year of 2017, the Group did not identify any corruption or bribe-taking case and in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community

Public welfare

On 6 May 2017, more than 2,200 runners signed up for the 6th Changan Street Huishan New City “Life Park” Cup
Charity Walking Marathon (E/NEREZHEBILF [£0E ] MARESFRI) and set off after the starting horn
from the East Square of Wuxi (Huishan) Life Science Technology Park (5 (R IL)E MR EXERES). The theme
of this charity walking marathon was to celebrate the 70th World Red Cross Day (8 May) by combining charity
program with national fithess, demonstrating care to the society with the power of sports. On the day of the event,
the Group made a charitable donation of RMB100,000 to the Red Cross.

Community Investment

Over the years, the Group has been dedicating itself to serving the society with care, passion, integrity, and respect,
which also constitutes an important part of the Group’s mission. To fulfil its corporate responsibility, the Group
encourages staff to be a volunteer and supports various community social events. These community events will help
to build the team collaboration workstyle and contribute to the sustainable development of local society.

Here are some activities during the year of 2017:

Activities for the alleviation of the poverty
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Deloitte =€)

TO THE MEMBERS OF COMTEC SOLAR SYSTEMS GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Comtec Solar Systems Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 175, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group experienced a
net loss of RMB145 million in the year ended 31 December 2017 and had a working capital deficit (total
consolidated current liabilities exceeded total consolidated current assets) of RMB101 million although a net assets
of RMB242 million are maintained as of that date. These factors initially raised doubt as to the Group’s ability to

continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Annual Report 2017 71



Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

We have identified the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment as a key audit matter
due to the inherent subjectivity within the estimation of
the present value of the future cash flows, a key
component of determining the asset’s recoverable
amount.

As disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the industry landscape for the traditional
monocrystalline silicon business has been deteriorated
continuously, the Group has considered the
deterioration of the future economic conditions of the
solar wafer manufacturing business in this year, as part
of the impairment assessment and the resulting
evaluation of the recoverable amount of the property,
plant and equipment. During the year ended 31
December 2017, impairment provision on property,
plant and equipment amounted to RMB37 million has
been provided. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying
amount of and the impairment provision on property,
plant and equipment amounted to approximately
RMB142 million and RMB214 million, respectively.

The recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment has been determined based on value in use
calculation. This calculation requires the use of
estimates of future cash flows based on projected
income and expenses of the business and working
capital needs.

The management is also required to choose suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
such cash flows. The discount rate in measuring the
value in use was 11%.

Changes in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount of the assets are based could
significantly affect the Group’s assessment resulting in
an impairment loss being recognized.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment included:

. Obtaining an understanding of the process and
testing the internal controls over the impairment
assessment including the Group’s assessment of
indicators of impairment, preparation of the cash
flow forecast, setting of reasonable and
supportable assumptions and inputs to the
models used to estimate the recoverable amount;

o Testing the reasonableness of the inputs and
assumptions used to determine the cash flow
forecast against historical performance,
economic and industry indicators, publically
available information and the Group’s strategic
plans; and

. Re-performing the underlying calculation used in
the Group’s assessment.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill arising from acquisition

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising from acquisition as a key audit matter due to
significance of the Group’s goodwill in the context of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
combined with the judgments involved in the
management’s impairment assessment of goodwill.

As disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2017 the carrying
amount of goodwill amounted to approximately
RMB106 million. As set out in Note 5(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, the impairment
assessment of goodwill is dependent on certain
significant inputs and estimations that involve the
management’s judgments. Details of such judgements
are disclosed in Note 18.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill arising from acquisitions
included:

. Obtaining an understanding of the process and
testing the internal controls over the impairment
assessment of goodwill;

. Examining the determination of recoverable
amount which is the value in use of cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated and obtaining an understanding of
financial position and future prospect of the cash-
generating unit;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used by the management in
estimations of value in use, including projections
of cash flows, growth rate and weighted average
return on assets;

. Comparing cash flow projection to supporting
evidence, such as approved budget, and
evaluating the reasonableness of such budget
with reference to contracts concluded or under
negotiation and future prospect of the cash-
generating unit as well as our knowledge of the
business; and

. Re-performing the underlying calculation used in
the Group’s assessment.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of inventories

We identified the impairment assessment of inventories
as a key audit matter due to significance of the Group’s
inventories in the context of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, combined with the management
judgments involved.

The industry landscape for the traditional
monocrystalline silicon business has been deteriorated
continuously, with certain major players who use
monocrystalline silicon wafers, such as those produced
by the Group, scaling back or even shutting down their
production. Given the deterioration of the future
economic conditions of the solar wafer manufacturing
business, the Group’s inventories are exposed to the
risk of being carried in excess of net realizable value.
As disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2017, the carrying
amount of inventories amounted to approximately
RMB43 million (net of inventory provision of RMB17
million. As disclosed in Note 5(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, in assessing the net realizable
value and making appropriate allowances to
inventories, the management shall identify, using their
judgement, inventories that are slow-moving or
obsolete, and consider the inventories’ physical
conditions, age, market conditions and market prices
for similar items.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of inventories included:

. Obtaining an understanding of the process and
testing the internal controls over the impairment
assessment of inventories;

. Attending inventory counts performed by the
management to evaluate whether obsolete
inventories are properly identified with which the
impairment assessment is based;

o Examining the inventories aging report produced
by the Group’s financial system with reference to
the procurement and/or production records;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the impairment
provision on inventories with reference to the
aging report and subsequent movement of the
inventories;

. Comparing the carrying amount of inventories at
the balance sheet date, on a sample basis, to the
subsequent selling price and/or publically
available information relating to the future selling
price trend of the inventories; and

. Evaluating the adequacy of impairment provision
on inventories with reference to the information
obtained above.



Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Joseph Wing Ming Chan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000

Revenue 6 489,208 810,045
Cost of sales (481,230) (962,626)
Gross profit (loss) 7,978 (152,581)
Other income 7 29,029 4,120
Other gains and losses, expenses and provision 8 (53,522) (763,846)
Distribution and selling expenses (11,049) (15,276)
Administrative expenses (81,846) (64,184)
Research and development expenses (5,865) (6,910)
Finance costs 9 (15,925) (9,112)
Loss before taxation 10 (131,200) (1,007,789)
Income tax (expense) credit 12 (14,247) 719
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (145,447) (1,007,070)

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year, attributable to
Owners of the Company (140,296) (1,007,070)
Non-controlling interests (5,151) -

(145,447) (1,007,070)

RMB cents RMB cents

Loss per share 14
— Basic (8.15) (69.48)
— Diluted (8.15) (69.48)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 December 2017

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income (expense)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of investment properties transferred from
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payment
Deferred tax arising from gain on revaluation of
investment properties transferred from property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

17

31

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

(145,447) (1,007,070)

41,387 -

(10,347) -

31,040 =

(114,407) (1,007,070)

(109,256) (1,007,070)
(5,151) -

(114,407) (1,007,070)
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at 31 December 2017

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII!!I!!I

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments-non-current
Investment properties
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Bills receivable
Advance to suppliers
Prepaid lease payments-current
Prepaid assignment fee
Short-term bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Customers’ deposits received
Short-term bank loans
Tax liabilities
Deferred revenue-current
Contingent consideration payables-current

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
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15
16
17
18
19

20
21
21

16
41
22(A)
22(B)

23

24
25
26

27
28

2017
RMB’000

2016
RMB000

142,129 208,314
13,484 22510
86,027 -

105,917 60,256
67,757 63,050
22,354 1,106

437,668 355,236
43,209 191,082

131,346 151,585

1,684 10,826
64,509 117,131
335 551

- 166,190
20,874 126,637
32,107 82,130
294,064 846,132
- 160,638

294,064 1,008,770

131,057 408,892
43,203 237,668

200,339 388,364
10,333 309

287 287
9,884 -

395,103 1,035,520

(101,039) (28,750)

336,629 326,486




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

at 31 December 2017

Capital and reserves

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

Share capital 29 1,807 1,333
Reserves 231,337 208,738
Equity attribute to owners of the Company 233,144 210,071
Non-controlling interests 8,961 =
Total equity 242,105 210,071
Non-current liabilities
Long-term bank loans 26 11,950 -
Deferred tax liabilities 31 31,958 18,283
Long-term payable 4,500 =
Deferred revenue-non-current 27 4,011 4,297
Contingent consideration payables 28 42,105 93,835
94,524 116,415
336,629 326,486

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 175 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 29 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR

DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Share Statutory ~ Property Non-
Share Share Options Special Surplus  Revaluation Accumulated Sub-  Controlling

Capital  Premium Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Losses Total Interests Total
RMBO0OO  RMBO0OO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O0O  ARMB0OO0  RMB0O00  RMB000  RMBO000  RMBO000  RMB000

At 1January 2016 1,205 1,317,003 86,217 11,012 84,583 - (363108 1136912 - 1136912
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year - - - - - - (1,007,070) (1,007,070 - (1,007,070)
Issue of ordinary shares 128 57,732 - - - - - 57,860 - 57,860
Recognition of equity-settled

share-based payments - - 22,369 - - - - 22,369 = 22,369
At 31 December 2016 1,333 1,374,735 108,586 11,012 84,583 - (1370178) 210071 - 210,071
At 1 January 2017 1,333 1,374,735 108,586 11,012 84,583 - (1,370,178) 210,071 - 210,071

Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year - - - - - - (140296)  (140,29) (5,151) (145447
Issue of ordinary shares 474 129,749 - - - - - 130,223 - 130,223
Recognition of equity-settled

share-based payments - - 2,106 - - - - 2,106 - 2,106
(Gain on revaluation of investment

properties transferred from

property, plant and equipment

and prepaid lease payments = = - -
Deferred tax arising from gain on

revaluation of investment

properties transferred from

property, plant and equipment

and prepaid lease payments - - - -
Acauisition of subsidiaries - - - - -
Capital contribution from

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 20 20

41,387 = 41,387 4,387

(10,347) = (10,347) = (10,347)
= = 14,092 14,092

At 31 December 2017 1,807 1,504,484 110,692 11,012 84,583 31040 (1510474) 233,144 8,961 242,105

Notes:
a. Special reserve

This reserve arises on a group reorganization which took place in the year ended 31 December 2007. The difference
between the nominal value of the shares acquired and the acquisition consideration arising on the group reorganization is
recorded in special reserve.

b. Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment enterprises in The People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"), the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation reported in their statutory financial
statements prepared under the PRC GAAP to the statutory surplus reserve. Allocation shall be approved by the
shareholders. The appropriation to statutory surplus reserve may cease if the balance of the statutory surplus reserve has
reached 50% of the PRC subsidiaries’ registered capital.

The PRC subsidiaries may, upon the approval by a resolution, convert their statutory surplus reserves into capital in

proportion to their then existing shareholdings. However, when converting the PRC subsidiaries’ statutory surplus reserve
fund into capital, the balance of such reserve remaining unconverted must not be less than 25% of the registered capital.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000

Operating activities

Loss before taxation (131,200) (1,007,789)
Adjustments for:
Interest income (296) (2,612)
Interest expenses 15,925 9,112
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,086 59,847
Amortization of intangible assets 21,288 -
Share-based payment expenses 2,106 22,369
Allowance for trade and other receivables 7,690 5,151
Allowance for inventories 17,381 94,537
Impairment losses recognized in respect of advance to suppliers - 1,369
Impairment losses recognized in respect of assets held for sale - 339,317
Impairment losses recognized in respect of property, plant and equipment 36,872 276,470
Write off deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment - 25,775
Losses recognized in respect of provision for termination of
Malaysian plant under construction 6,200 88,269
Losses recognized in respect of provision for compensation to a supplier 6,119 34,975
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 14,796 1,548
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale - (81)
Gain on fair value change of contingent consideration payables (22,016) (19,068)
Utilization of allowance for advance to suppliers (1,369) (95,690)
Release of prepaid lease payments 551 761
Release of deferred revenue (287) (287)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (8,154) (166,027)
Decrease (increase) in inventories 135,974 (21,974)
Decrease in trade and other receivables 43,746 95,097
Decrease (increase) in bills receivable 9,142 (3,855)
Decrease in advance to suppliers 55,646 88,366
Decrease in prepaid assignment fee 166,190 9,356
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (292,015) 20,393
(Decrease) increase in customers’ deposits received (194,883) 58,992
Cash (used in) generated from operations (84,354) 80,348
Tax paid (4,880) (112)
Net cash (used in) from operating activities (89,234) 80,236
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Investing activities
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment
Placement of short-term bank deposits
Withdrawal of short-term bank deposits
Deposits paid for purchasing of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Additions of prepaid lease payments

Net cash from investing activities

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of new shares
Expenses on issue of shares
Bank loans raised
Interest paid
Repayment of bank loans
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,
represented by bank balances and cash
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2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
296 2,612
138,395 19,210
10,402 -
(20,874) (126,637)
126,637 171,084
(21,248) -
(59,650) (36,182)
(6,176) -

- (5,227)
167,782 24,860
66,479 58,797
(1,336) (937)
261,992 269,048
(16,659) (9,112)
(439,067) (390,477)
20 -
(128,571) (72,681)
(50,023) 32,415
82,130 49,715
32,107 82,130




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. GENERAL
Comtec Solar Systems Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Island, and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 30 October 2009. Its parent company and ultimate holding company is Fonty Holdings
Limited (“Fonty”) incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. Its ultimate controlling party is
Mr. John Yi Zhang (“Mr. Zhang”) who is the chairman and director of the Company. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in research, production and sales of efficient mono-crystalline products and power storage products and the
provision of consulting services for investment, development, construction and operation of solar photovoltaic
power stations. The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 40.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Group experienced a net loss of RMB145,447,000 in the year ended 31 December 2017 and had a
working capital deficit (total consolidated current liabilities exceeded total consolidated current assets) of
RMB101,039,000 although a net assets of RMB242,